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Registrar

“This is the fourth period in
succession in which Whitbread’s
continuing businesses have reported
double-digit earnings growth”
Whitbread (continuing businesses)*

2002/3

% change

Divisional sales (£m)

1,780

+3.5

Operating profit† (£m)

275

+10

Profit before tax (£m)

214

+14

Profit after tax† (£m)

148

+12

Return on capital (%)

9.4

+0.7 points

ø

†

*ø continuing businesses – those owned by the group at 3 March 2002
excluding businesses sold

† profits before exceptional items

The company’s registrar is Computershare Investor
Services PLC,PO Box 82,The Pavilions,Bridgwater Road,
Bristol BS99 7NH.Their website address is
www.computershare.com.For enquiries regarding your
shareholding please telephone 0870 703 0103,or e-mail
web.queries@computershare.co.uk.You can also view upto-date information about your holdings by visiting
www.whitbread.co.uk/register.Please ensure that you
advise Computershare promptly of any change of address.

Shareholder benefits
Details of special discounts and offers by Whitbread
businesses have been mailed with this report. Any future
offers will be subject to review by the board.

Sharegift
If you have a small number of Whitbread PLC shares,with
a value that makes it uneconomic to sell them,you may
donate the shares to charity through the Sharegift scheme
operated by the Orr Mackintosh Foundation.Further
information on Sharegift can be obtained from their
website (www.sharegift.org) or by calling 020 7337 0501.

Dividend Reinvestment Plan
Full details of the plan,which offers you the chance to
reinvest your cash dividend in the purchase of additional
company shares,are available from the registrars at the
address given above.

Dividend payment by BACS
We can pay your dividends direct to your bank or building
society account using the Bankers’Automated Clearing
Service (BACS).This means that your dividend will be in
your account on the same day we make the payment.
Your tax voucher will be posted to your home address.
If you would like to use this method of payment please
ring the registrars on 0870 703 0103.

Individual Savings Account (ISA)
NatWest provide a Company sponsored ISA. For
further information or to receive a copy of the ISA
brochure please ring 020 7895 5600. Calls are charged
at national rates.

Financial diary – 2003/4*
30 April

Results announcement

7 May

Ex dividend date for final dividend

9 May

Record date for final dividend

17 June

AGM at Queen Elizabeth II
Conference Centre

11 July

Payment of final dividend

30 August

Half year end

28 October

Announcement of half year results
(date under review)

5 November

Ex dividend date for interim dividend

7 November

Record date

Share dealing service

6 January 2004 Payment of interim dividend

Share dealing by post

4 March 2004

Computershare 0870 703 0103
Barclays Stockbrokers 0845 702 3021
NatWest Stockbrokers 0870 600 2050

*Dates subject to confirmation

End of financial year

Share dealing by telephone
Stocktrade 0845 840 1533
Barclays Stockbrokers 0845 702 3021
The availability of these services should not be taken
as a recommendation to deal.

Capital Gains Tax
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Market values of shares in the company as at 31 March
1982 were as follows:
‘A’limited voting shares of 25p each 103.75p
‘B’limited shares of 25p each 103.75p
Whitbread has had discussions with the Inland Revenue
concerning the capital gains tax cost of Whitbread
shares following the reduction of capital on 10 May 2001.
It is confirmed that the market value of each Whitbread
share on 10 May 2001 for these purposes was 606.5p and
the market value of each Fairbar share was 230p.
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Increased dividend

Strong cash flow

Net assets per share

up
12%

£39
million

33p
increase

to 19.87p

net inflow

to 670p

ø

Divisional Sales (£m)

1,721

236

2002/3

Profit before tax* (£m)

52.85

187

250

2000/1 2001/2

Adjusted
earnings per share (p)

214

275

1,780

1,596

2000/1 2001/2

Operating profit* (£m)

174

2002/3

ø

2000/1 2001/2

47.79

2002/3

47.85

2000/1 2001/2

2002/3

excluding businesses sold

*profits before exceptional items of continuing businesses
(those owned at 3 March 2002)
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chairman’s statement

Sir John Banham
Chairman

“These are good results. They
endorse the decision announced
by the board over two years ago
to create a focused leisure business
and confirm that management
action is delivering increasing
value for our shareholders”
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This is the fourth period in succession in which
Whitbread’s continuing businesses have reported
double-digit earnings growth. It demonstrates the
strength of the transformed company and especially
the ability of our brands to out-perform their
competitors.

Strong cash position
Capital investment was again focused on those marketleading brands capable of producing the strongest
returns. £114 million of expenditure on new sites
increased the scale of our brands, particularly Travel Inn,
Brewers Fayre / Brewsters and David Lloyd Leisure.

Pension agreement
I was particularly pleased that we were able to put
in place an innovative agreement with Whitbread
Pension Trustees Limited which safeguards the
interests of members of the final salary pension
scheme while also protecting the interests of our
shareholders. Full details are in the finance review
on page 9 of this report.

The board

Whitbread has become a much more efficient business.
Trading margin improved from 12.9% to 14.0% and
return on capital was ahead in every brand. The cash
position was strong with a net inflow of £39 million.

I am delighted that Rod Kent has accepted the position
as the company’s senior independent non-executive
director. Rod joined the board in September 2002.
He stepped down as managing director of Close
Brothers in October 2002 and is currently chairman
of Bradford and Bingley plc, Grosvenor Limited and
Whitbread Pension Trustees Limited.

The heart of our business

Dividend

During the year, my board colleagues and I have met
the management teams of each Whitbread brand
along with many of their people. Unfailingly, we have
been impressed by their grasp of what is required to
grow the returns on the assets they control while
improving, yet further, service to their customers. They
have performed both tasks remarkably well and it is
the 65,000 people in Whitbread to whom thanks must
go for these results.

The board has confidence in the prospects for the
group and this is reflected in the final dividend
payment of 14.30p per share making a total dividend
of 19.87p per share for the year – an increase of 12%.
This will be paid on 11 July 2003 to shareholders on
the register at the close of business on 9 May 2003.

Sir John Banham
Chairman
29 April 2003
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chief executive’s review

David Thomas
Chief Executive

“The restructuring two years ago
was undertaken with the conviction
that successful brand management
in the leisure industry requires a
deep understanding of consumer
needs, clear brand propositions,
operational excellence and first
class people”
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“These are good results but I am confident
there’s more to be won – and the action
plans are in place to do so”

Building on strength
These skills are at the heart of Whitbread. They have
enabled us to move into new markets ahead of our
competitors, to refresh our existing brands and generate
increasing customer loyalty as well as providing the
impetus for the improved performances we are
beginning to deliver.
Each brand management team combines these skills
with a robust plan to deliver improved value. In Marriott,
for example, this is expressed as profit per room which
was maintained despite severe conditions in the
four-star hotel market.
Travel Inn made its existing assets work harder by
improving its already high occupancy levels and also
sustained its development programme. Pub restaurants
and the high street brands increased their operating
profit, operating margin, and return on capital. David
Lloyd Leisure stood out in the health and fitness market
with improved performance across the board.
Looking to the future,Whitbread has exciting growth
prospects. I expect Marriott’s profit per room growth
to at least match its competitors as the hotel market
improves. Travel Inn, Brewers Fayre / Brewsters, Pizza Hut
and Costa will each expand their distribution by 50%
over the medium term.
In David Lloyd Leisure, 21 developing clubs are moving
towards the 15% levels of return earned by mature clubs
while the brand is set to grow from 55 to 100 clubs.

I am continuing to take a prudent view of capital
expenditure and other costs in order to protect cash
flow and earnings.

Marriott
Sales
Operating profit
Return on capital

Marriott
-4. 1%
Brewers Fayre
+5.2%
David Lloyd Leisure* +6.8%
(*5 weeks)

Travel Inn +4.0%
Beefeater +3.3%

These are robust performances which demonstrate
the strength of the Whitbread brands.
I am hopeful that the early end to the Middle East
conflict will be beneficial both to consumer confidence
and to the outlook for our markets – particularly in fourstar hotels. Until conditions are more clear, however,

£71.6 million

+0%

5.8%

+0%

The former Swallow hotels continued to benefit from
their conversion to the Marriott brand. Achieved room
rate grew from £68.73 to £69.62, occupancy was up
1.1% points and like-for-like sales grew 2.7%.
Total network occupancy was ahead 1.3% points although
achieved room rate fell as leisure and conference guests
replaced business travellers,particularly in London.

Travel Inn
Sales

£204 million

Like-for-like sales
Return on capital

For the first eight weeks of the new financial year, likefor-like sales growth for each of the major brands was
as follows:

(3.1%)
(0.5%)

Pre-goodwill amortisation, operating profit was
£78.6m and ROCE 6.5%. Maintaining operating profit
in the face of a depressed four-star market was a
considerable achievement. Overall yield premium to
the market also was maintained at 20.2% in London
and 19.0% in the provinces. Profit per room for the
Marriott brand was maintained year-over-year.

Operating profit

Current trading

£392 million

Like-for-like sales

+15%
+6.1%

£66.7 million

+11%

12.6%

+0.1% point

Travel Inn was highly successful in its twin objectives
of further improving the performance of its existing
network and achieving network growth.
Achieved room rate grew from £38.59 to £39.98,
occupancy was up 1% point to 82% and like-for-like
sales were ahead 6.1%.
Return on capital also improved despite two large
projects involving some 900 rooms not coming on
stream until the new financial year. Travel Inn ended
the period with 293 hotels and 16,669 rooms making
it the UK’s largest hotel brand. It remains on target
to achieve its mid-term objective of 25,000 rooms.
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Return on capital in the high street
restaurants was up from 15.2% to 19.1%

David Thomas with Mike Tye, managing director of Costa,
at the brand’s new Virgin Megastore unit

Pub restaurants
Sales

David Lloyd Leisure
£583 million

Like-for-like sales
Operating profit

+1.2%

Sales

+2.7%

Like-for-like sales

£76.6 million

+10%

Operating profit

9.9%

+0.9% points

Return on capital

Sales growth for the segment was held back by the
disposal of 31 units and the announcement that a further
51 sites were to be sold.The Brewers Fayre estate,
however, grew like-for-like sales by 4% with a particularly
strong performance from the Brewsters brand at 5%.
Operating margin was 0.5% up year-over-year at 15.4%.
Return on capital was ahead by 0.5% points.
Beefeater’s like-for-like sales were up by 0.8%, operating
margin improved by 1.6% points and return on capital
was up 1.2% points.
Agreement has been reached to sell 34 of the Beefeater
sites and it is expected that when the disposal of the
51 sites is completed it will achieve close to book value.
Six trial sites for the future of the Beefeater estate are
producing encouraging results.

Return on capital

£418 million

Like-for-like sales
Operating profit
Return on capital

19.1%

+3.9% points

Sales growth was held back by a slow London market
but the high street brands performed well on all other
measures. Operating margin grew by 0.8% points to
5.1%, profit per outlet grew by 20.7% and return on
capital was up from 15.2% to 19.1%.

page 6 Whitbread PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2002/3

+26%

9.1%

+1.5% points

Overall the David Lloyd Leisure brand achieved
operating margin growth of 2.9% to 23.7% with a 26%
improvement in operating profit. Member retention, at
76%, was 3% points ahead of last year and some 16%
points above the industry average.
Six new clubs were opened during the year bringing
the total to 55. Membership grew from 279,000 to
310,000.

+1.6%
+25%

+6.1%
£43.3 million

Once again mature club performance was particularly
impressive with a 0.9% points improvement in return
on assets to 15.8%.

+5.3%

£21.4 million

+11%

David Lloyd Leisure is the leader in the UK health and
fitness industry in terms of financial performance,
market share and value with well above average rates
of member retention.

High street restaurants
Sales

£183 million

David Thomas
Chief Executive
29 April 2003

finance director’s review

David Richardson
Finance Director

Year-over-year comparisons of performance
The year-over-year comparability of these results is
affected by the inclusion of 10 weeks trading figures
for Pubs & Bars in 2001/2. The demerger of Pubs & Bars
was completed in May 2001.
References in this report to ‘continuing Whitbread’
refer to the total group less Pubs & Bars. This definition
of continuing Whitbread, which is consistent with that
used in the 2001/2 annual report, includes the Pelican
business which was sold in May 2002.
Operating profit and EBITDA figures, where referred
to in this review, are stated before exceptional items
(see note 4 to the accounts).
Like-for-like sales figures exclude sales of outlets first
opened or disposed of during 2001/2 or 2002/3.
Since the announcement of the decision to demerge
Pubs & Bars, the financial focus of the group has been
directed towards improving the return from the
business assets within Hotels, Restaurants and Active
Leisure whilst also organically growing these businesses
within the group’s resources and cash flows.
The benefit of this focus is demonstrated by the
proforma results for continuing Whitbread as set out
in the following table.

The return on capital, on a proforma basis, has grown
from 8.7% in 2001/2 to 9.4% despite the depressed
four-star hotel market.

Turnover
Turnover grew by 2.4% on a like-for-like basis.
Comparable divisional turnover grew by 3.5%.
The decline in headline reported turnover reflects
the demerger and the Pelican disposal.

Operating profit
Operating profit for continuing Whitbread grew by
10%. Marriott maintained its profit level despite the
depressed four-star hotel market. All other divisions
increased their profits.
Profit margin for continuing Whitbread increased
from 12.2% to 14%, while return on capital increased
from 8.7% to 9.4%. These improvements reflect the
continued focus on cost control and asset
management. This focus is embedded into the
internal performance review processes.

Proforma results for continuing Whitbread (£m)
Continuing Whitbread

Pubs & Bars As published

2002/3

2001/2

2001/2

2001/2

£m

£m

£m

£m

Divisional sales
Less Pelican

1,803
(23)

1,822
(101)

Comparable
divisional sales

1,780

1,721

Operating profit before
exceptional items

275

250

30

280

EBITDA

401

374

36

410

Interest

(61)

(63)

(4)

(67)

Profit before tax and
exceptional items
Tax

214
(66)

187
(56)

26
(7)

213
(63)

148

131

19

150

2,931
9.4

2,865
8.7

Profit after tax before
exceptional items
Net assets
Return on capital (%)
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Earnings before exceptional items, interest, tax,
depreciation and amortisation (‘EBITDA’)
EBITDA is a good indicator of the operating cash
generated by each division. EBITDA for continuing
Whitbread grew by 7.2% to £401 million. All divisions
increased their EBITDA.

Exceptional items
Exceptional items before tax amounted to a net charge
of £11.2 million.This amount is analysed in note 4 to the
accounts.The components are: a charge of £5 million
to provide against the costs of an onerous lease on a site
unlikely to be developed; and a net loss of £7.8 million on
the disposal of businesses, partly offset by a net profit of
£1.6 million on the disposal of fixed assets.The net loss on
the disposal of businesses is stated after accounting for
£4.8 million of goodwill previously written off. It relates
to the disposals of the Pelican high street restaurant
businesses and the London-based Curzon gym business.

Interest
The net interest charge fell by £6.4 million to
£61.0 million. This reduction reflects a lower level
of net debt and lower interest rates this year. Net
interest was covered 4.5 times by operating profit
before exceptional items.

Tax
The charge against profit before exceptional items for
the period of £66.4 million represents an underlying
rate of 31.0%. The factors affecting the tax charge are
explained in note 9 to the accounts. A £16.4 million
credit to current tax, which arises from the release
of specific provisions from previous years, has been
treated as exceptional.

Shareholder return
Basic earnings per share were 51.77 pence, while
adjusted basic EPS was 52.85 pence – an increase
of 10% year-over-year. Adjusted basic EPS excludes
exceptional items and goodwill amortisation.

last revaluation of the group’s properties was carried
out in 1998/9. Consequently, £1.8 billion of tangible
fixed assets are carried at cost.

Accounting policies
The accounting policies adopted in preparing these
accounts are consistent with those used in the
previous year.

Capital expenditure
£218 million was invested in property and plant,
compared with £287 million last year. Of this amount,
£114 million (2001/2 – £130 million) related to the
acquisition and development of new sites.The reduction
in the level of capital expenditure results from the
completion of the major part of the Swallow to Marriott
conversion programme and a reduction in expenditure
in Marriott following September 11. Other capital
expenditure includes £9 million incurred in acquiring
and implementing a group-wide E.R.P. system.
Capital expenditure (£m)

2002/3

2001/2

27
65

71
71

Restaurants – Pub restaurants
47
– High street restaurants 15

53
18

Sports, health and fitness

54

57

Other

10

3

218

273

–

14

218

287

Hotels

– Marriott
– Travel Inn

Current Whitbread
Pubs & Bars

The current forecast is for capital expenditure of
around £275 million in 2003/4. The majority of
expansionary capital expenditure will be directed at
developing new Travel Inns and David Lloyd Leisure
clubs. Some £20 million additional expenditure will
be incurred on the new E.R.P. system.

Cash flow

The total dividend for the year of 19.87 pence per share
represents an increase of 12%. The dividend payment
is 40% of post-tax earnings before exceptional items
(cover of 2.5 times). The final dividend of 14.30 pence
per share will be paid on 11 July 2003 to all shareholders
on the register at the close of business on 9 May 2003.

The net cash inflow before use of liquid resources and
financing was £39 million. This compares with a net
cash outflow of £26 million, on a proforma basis, for
2001/2. The underlying cash inflow, after adjusting
for the proceeds from business disposals and for the
£114 million cost of acquiring and developing new sites,
was £130 million.

The company’s share price opened the financial year
at 633 pence and closed it at 521 pence. Net asset value
per share increased over the year from 637 pence to
670 pence. As explained in note 14 to the accounts, the

The principal reason for the decline in tax paid is that
2001/2 included the final payments on account in
respect of the liabilities relating to Pubs & Bars.
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Pensions

Financial risks and treasury policies

The pensions charge to the profit and loss account
continues to be based on SSAP24. The charge reflects
the results of the recent triennial valuation of our
defined benefit scheme, which revealed a deficit on
the fund of £64 million. The fund was closed to new
members on 31 December 2001.

The main financial risks faced by the group relate
to: the availability of funds to meet business needs;
fluctuations in interest rates; and the risk of default
by a counterparty in a financial transaction.

The second stage of the FRS17 (Retirement Benefits)
transitional arrangements has been adopted and the
disclosures required are included in note 7 to the
accounts. On an FRS17 basis, the pension fund had a
deficit on 1 March 2003 of £420 million. The net deficit,
after tax, was £294 million. It should be noted that the
FRS17 calculations are very susceptible to short term
movements in equity values and interest rates.
In line with our aim to be the “Employer of Choice”, the
board announced in April 2003 that the company had
signed an agreement with Whitbread Pension Trustees
Limited. Under that agreement, the company has
undertaken to fund the pension scheme for a period
of up to 15 years and given undertakings to the trustees
similar to some of the covenants provided in respect
of its banking agreements. As a consequence of this
agreement, payments will be made into the fund for
each of the next three years at a rate of £15 million
above the anticipated SSAP24 charge. There will be no
change to the profit and loss account as a consequence
of this agreement for each of the three financial years
until the next triennial valuation in March 2005.

Financial position
Net debt at the year end amounted to £941 million,
resulting in a balance sheet gearing ratio of 47%. Net
interest was covered 4.5 times by operating profit
before exceptional items.
In February 2003 a £625 million committed credit
facility, which expires in April 2005, was reduced by
£150 million. At the same time a £280 million 5 year
facility was agreed. At the year end, £457 million
of the total committed credit facility of £755 million
was unused.

The Treasury Committee, which is chaired by the
Finance Director, reviews and monitors the treasury
function. The undertaking of financial transactions
of a speculative nature is not permitted.
The group finances its operations by a combination
of internally-generated cash flow, bank borrowings
and long-term debt market issues. The group seeks
to achieve a spread in the maturity of its debts.
Interest rate swaps and interest rate caps are used
to achieve the desired mix of fixed and floating rate
debt. The group’s policy is to fix or cap a proportion
of projected net interest costs over the next five years.
This policy reduces the group’s exposure to the
consequences of interest rate fluctuations.

Interest rate risk management
At the year end £500 million (55%) of group net
sterling debt was fixed for a weighted average of
7.5 years, using fixed rate borrowings and interest rate
swaps. The average rate of interest on this fixed rate
sterling debt was 6.7%.
Based on the group’s net debt position at the year end,
a 1% change in interest rates would affect costs by
approximately £4 million, or around 1.5% of the 2002/3
operating profit before exceptional items.

Foreign currency risk management
At the year end foreign currency borrowings amounted
to £53 million. These borrowings provide a partial
hedge against overseas investments.
Transaction exposures resulting from purchases in
foreign currencies may be hedged by forward foreign
currency transactions and currency options.

Going concern
The directors have a reasonable expectation that
the company has adequate resources to continue
operating for the foreseeable future. For this reason,
the going concern basis continues to be adopted in
preparing the accounts.

David Richardson
Finance Director
29 April 2003
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hotels!Whitbread

Alan Parker
Managing Director,
Whitbread Hotel Company

“All of our effort this year has gone
into improving our delivery: to our
customers; throughout every level
of our operation; and ultimately in
our revenue generation. We have
been more resilient to the market
downturn and are now better placed
to profit from economic recovery”

Alan Parker looks back over the last 12 months at Whitbread Hotel
Company’s Marriott business and sees more positives than others
might expect.“It’s been a pretty tough year. The market was looking
to a recovery in the second half, which never really came through,
and a few people might have been caught out by that.”
So what’s good about that? “In amongst some pretty bad news, we’ve
been able to improve our own performance.”
One headline is that profit per room in Marriott is now approaching
parity with the very best in the four-star sector, and as Parker stresses:
“We’ve improved our position, while the others have been falling.” He’s
at pains to point out that this has been an all-round effort. Time and
again though he returns to “four key factors”, all stemming from smart
and determined management, which have driven Marriott’s resilience.
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20%
yield premium

“Persuading business people
to choose Marriott for work
AND leisure has enabled the
brand to remain focused on
its prime market”
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Golf helps Marriott attract both
conference guests and leisure
guests for weekend breaks

Agility
First is the fact that Marriott seems to have been quicker
off the mark than others in spotting where the market
dynamics were leading in the wake of September 11 and
in adapting to changing conditions.
“We looked at the whole of our operation and took some
big decisions quickly – restructuring and re-engineering
key elements of the way we do business.We’ve taken
significant costs out of the business, without damaging
our quality of delivery in any way.”
Asked what he means by ‘significant’, he simply shrugs,
“About £10 million out of our operating costs.”
“We saw that, although the business travel market
might not be coming back at the levels any of us would
have wanted, we could still maintain our focus on the
UK business traveller.” It was, he says,“a subtle, but
significant shift. Basically, we felt, and still do, that the
UK domestic market would open up as our customers
began to think differently about where to travel to and
where to stay.”Which explains the second of the four
main factors.

The Marriott network is
truly national, and not so
dependent on the London
market, which has been hit
hardest by the downturn.

Brand value
Persuading business people to choose Marriott for work
and leisure has enabled the brand to remain focused on
its prime market.“We have a tremendous strength in
the brand – Forbes magazine rates Marriott as its most
admired hotel brand – and we’ve extended that appeal
by tapping more of the potential of our hotels.”
The fact that Marriott is one of the biggest owners
of golf-courses in the UK, for example, creates an
opportunity to build business.“This year we will host
the British Masters at the Marriott Forest of Arden as
part of a three year deal. And we aim to stage at least
one big tournament every year for the next decade.”
The logic is that, as well as encouraging golf tourism,
the heightened profile will give Marriott’s Country Club
hotels an edge in the conferencing market. This in turn
stimulates leisure breaks as delegates return for long
weekends with their families.
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Improving customer and
employee satisfaction levels
while making cost reductions
of £10 million is testimony to
the unique commitment at
Whitbread Hotel Company.

“Our customer and
associate satisfaction
scores are at record highs”

“The only segment of our sector that’s showing any real
signs of buoyancy is UK domestic leisure travel and we're
positioning the Marriott brand deliberately to take
advantage of that trend.”

Transformation
The strength of that brand is revealed in the third of
Parker’s factors – the conversion of the Swallow hotels
business that Whitbread acquired in 2000.“In three years
we have added 24 properties to the Marriott business
through the Swallow transformation programme.
“The first tranche of converted hotels has already
boosted room yield by 15% points and there’s more
to come.
“We’ve done well, but we’re only just getting started.
We’re working on the basis of another 10% points
worth of value to be realised, and that only puts the
whole network on an even keel. We are in good shape
to benefit when the sector picks up again.”

“Unlike some operators, we’ve kept up our commitment
to training. General managers and department heads
are the backbone of our business, so dedicating
something like 23,000 hours to management training
during this last period doesn’t seem strange to us.”
Parker stresses that this training has been “pragmatic
rather than theoretical” with the focus on how to
sharpen up operationally at all levels of the business.
One of the most successful initiatives has been Spirit
to Sell – an attempt to improve profit per room by
increasing revenue from ancillary services.
“Spirit to Sell has been incredibly successful. It’s made
all of our people understand that simple things like
that additional aperitif, or making guests feel like
staying an extra half hour in the bar, can really make
a difference. We've asked our associates how they can
drive our service levels so high that guests want to
indulge themselves a bit more and their passion for
the business has taken on a new dimension.”

People making the difference

Ready for the upturn

Parker takes us to the fourth and final success factor:
the Marriott people,“literally, the personification of
the brand.”Their role has been “pivotal” in creating
value through their everyday dealings with customers
in the toughest trading environment most of them
have ever known.

Parker points to the fact that, while the market might
be depressed at the moment, the underlying trend for
UK hotels is upward. He is a firm believer that tough
times have brought the best out of his business.

“And, at the same time, our customer and associate
satisfaction scores are at record highs,” beams Parker.
If that sounds like the squaring of a circle, he believes
there’s a logical explanation.

“There’s absolutely no doubt that we have emerged a
much stronger, fitter business as a result of management
action and first-class delivery,”says Parker.“We expect
to generate more value even in a flat market.When the
upturn does come, we’ll be the best-placed brand to
profit quickly and with sustainability.”

All Whitbread’s Marriott hotels
provide conference facilities
page 13
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“We have taken a beautifully
simple idea and placed it at the
heart of our business. In every
one of nearly 300 Travel Inns
we aim to give our customers
everything they want for a
good night’s sleep”

Simplicity. It’s the one word that, for Carl Leaver, sums up Travel Inn.
Simple? Perhaps, but the creation of the UK’s largest and most successful
hotel brand is no ordinary achievement.
“When you have such an uncomplicated business dynamic, it’s important
to find the elements of differentiation that drive competitive advantage.
Our philosophy focuses on addressing the basic human need for rest
and relaxation. This is what drives our business; it’s what has made
us the most popular hotel brand in the country.”
His claim is difficult to refute. In 2002/3,Whitbread Hotel Company’s
Travel Inn was the only major UK hotel brand to boost both occupancy
and room rate. As a result, Leaver finished the year with like-for-like sales
up by over 6%, profit ahead by 11% and a further improvement in return
on capital.
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Carl Leaver
Managing Director,
Travel Inn

82%
occupancy

“Demand for our brand regularly
outstrips supply. Travel Inn’s popularity
is driving the creation of a 25,000
bedroom business”
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Meeting rooms, a business
lounge and hot desks are all
provided at Touchbase, the
purpose built facility now being
extended to more Travel Inns.

One analyst has captured market sentiment towards
the business in praising it for “like-for-like sales growth
which is unlikely to be matched by any major lodging
business in the world.”

Smart technology
In the summer of 2002, Travel Inn launched a unique
integrated reservations system.
“The beauty is its simplicity,” says Leaver,“we have one
system that holds live data on the entire room inventory
in the Travel Inn network. In other words, we can see at
a glance how many rooms we have available in every
single Travel Inn from Truro to Inverness.
“If we can’t book a customer into their first choice
location, we can immediately suggest other Travel
Inns in the area. And this is true whether the customer
is booking in person at the Travel Inn, over the phone
or via the internet.”
In the first six months of operation over 120,000
rooms were cross-sold this way, generating £6 million
of revenue. At the same time, Travel Inn re-launched
its website, in line with a more aggressive approach
to web marketing.
“At 14% of overall bookings, we were already selling
proportionately more rooms via the web than any
other hotelier, but we knew we could improve. We
made navigation easier in order to encourage brand
loyalty. In the first four months we have increased
internet bookings to over 18% of all reservations.”

Travel Inn’s new advertising campaign has
helped push awareness of the brand to 35%.
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Total satisfaction, total confidence
Perhaps the boldest move of all was the introduction
of Travel Inn’s ‘100% Satisfaction Guarantee’ a zeroquibble pledge to refund immediately and in full if
guests are not entirely happy with their stay. Now in
its third year, it has proved an enormous success both
operationally and in terms of building brand loyalty.
But didn’t the very idea give Leaver sleepless nights?
“Yes”, he smiles,“it was a brave decision, but we really
felt that we had no other choice. It was the ultimate
test of our promise of a good night’s sleep for every
guest. If we couldn’t make that guarantee, we would
have to reconsider our core philosophy – and that was
unthinkable.”
Today, Leaver can state with authority that 99.5% of
Travel Inn customers are completely satisfied with the
brand.The money refunded to the 0.5% of customers
who do invoke the guarantee, Leaver calls “the best
investment we could ever make. We now have fewer
problems and those we do have, we fix faster. We get
more honest feedback from our customers and we
get it instantly. Where guests do not get what they
expected they get their money back – straight away,
with no questions asked.”

A brand on the rise
Looking after customers for the long run is already
paying dividends, as evidenced by the occupancy
growth last year. And it’s a brand that is becoming
increasingly well known, with unprompted awareness
leaping from 17% to 35% inside two years.
“We have backed up our operational excellence with
some smart brand communications, such as our latest
billboard advertising campaign.”

“Our unique reservation system has generated
£1 million per month through onward referrals
from one Travel Inn to another”

At 18% Travel Inn’s internet
booking levels are the
highest by far in the sector.

In 2002,Travel Inn made a concerted assault on the
domestic business travel market with the launch of the
Travel Inn Business Account. It gives companies a central
itemised invoicing service for employees staying at
Travel Inns across the UK, but does not offer discounts.
“It was important to protect the integrity and simplicity
of the Travel Inn brand model,” says Leaver.“It is
reassuring for our customers to know that they pay
the same price as every other guest staying on the
same night in the same Travel Inn.”
The business account now generates £1 million of
revenue every month for Travel Inn and co-located
Whitbread restaurants like Brewers Fayre, Brewsters
and Beefeater.
So what comes next for Travel Inn?
“Scale is a major driver of value,”says Leaver. In 1998,
recognising the massive potential of the budget hotel
sector,Whitbread set a target of increasing the size
of its Travel Inn estate from around 10,000 to 25,000
bedrooms.
The business has sped towards this goal. The fastest
growing hotel brand in the land (adding on average
1,500 bedrooms each year) has become the biggest
hotel brand in the land, with more than 16,600 rooms.

More to come
According to latest research, the UK budget hotel
sector is still at least a decade away from maturity.
“Despite our growth rate and despite the fact that
we now cross-sell far more rooms than ever before,
demand for our product still regularly outstrips
supply,” says Leaver.
In May 2003, the largest Travel Inn to date will open
at Heathrow (its 590 bedrooms makes it the largest
budget hotel anywhere in the UK). With more large
‘Capital’ and ‘Metro’ projects now open or nearing
completion at ExCel in London’s Docklands, Liverpool
and Sheffield, Travel Inn is closing in on its goal of
25,000 rooms.

Creating new opportunities
Finding new opportunities also contributes to growth.
The brand’s joint venture with the Spirit pub company
and its management contract with motorway services
group, RoadChef have already added 1,500 Travel Inn
bedrooms.
“The fact that other retailers want to work with us is
testament to the strength of our brand,” says Leaver,
quoting the example of RoadChef, where room yield
rose by over 25% following re-branding.
And 2003 will see more innovation, including Touchbase,
the purpose-built meetings centres developed
alongside Travel Inns. Following successful trials at
Hemel Hempstead, Swindon and Mansfield, Leaver
now believes that Touchbase “will do for the meetings
market what Travel Inn has done for the accommodation
market” and is adding another 15 sites this year.
It’s another ‘simple’business, but somehow simplicity is
something that Leaver – and Whitbread – do best.
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Bill Shannon
Managing Director,
Whitbread Restaurants

“Our brands outperform the
market because we understand
more about people’s changing
preferences in why, where and
when they want to eat – and
because we can meet those
demands better than anyone else”

Bill Shannon explains how it is that the majority of his restaurant brands
are ‘the very best at what they do’. His approach typifies the Whitbread
focus on identifying consumer trends,“covering the majority of the market
with a minimum of brands and an emphasis on scale.
“We don’t want to play outside the mainstream. We’re very successful
in the large, mass-market, informal dining business,” says Shannon.
Against an industry backdrop of flat to negative sales growth,Whitbread
Restaurants has improved like-for-like sales by 2% and generated ‘serious
double-digit profits growth’. Over the past 12 months, across the board
increases on comparable sales and margin have enabled the division
to up its return on capital employed.
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Over 140 Brewsters restaurants are now
proving the success of the ‘fun for kids,
relaxing for parents’ approach.
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“Great coffee in the places our customers want
it is the key to Costa’s success. Smarter location
selection means we don’t waste money on
expensive High Street rents”

Shannon is adamant that this is no blip:“The brands
that we have in our portfolio have been delivering
these levels of improvement now for the past three
reporting periods.”
With the dining out market predicted to grow by 23%
over the next five years, the division’s current trading
performance suggests that the best is yet to come.

Consistency and individuality
“We’re in a position now to capitalise on all the work
we’ve put into the last couple of years,” says Shannon,
“and to see the results of ensuring a common
approach to running our businesses.”
Each brand is subject to Shannon’s five-point mantra:
“give customers compelling reasons to visit; always
deliver ahead of their expectations; make the business
a great place to work; run your operation with
efficiency and professionalism; and where each one
of these criteria is met, where there is clear demand
and the returns are high, unlock further value through
expansion.”
He picks out Brewsters, his ‘star performer’, as an
example of how this approach works.“In a little over
two-and-a-half years, Brewsters has laid claim to a
unique position in the UK restaurant market. It is
already the best performing pub restaurant chain
in the country and we’re only just getting started.”

Its approach to customer relationship management
has revolved around the iconic Brewster the Bear:
“Each year 880,000 children receive a birthday card
from Brewster and many choose to celebrate their big
day with him.”
At Beefeater, while he concedes that the challenge
has been different, the methodology remains exactly
the same.
“We have known for some time now that Beefeater
needed to be re-energised. We have tried doing certain
things differently in a number of Beefeater research
and development sites. Because of this we are now
incorporating the most popular innovations into a
new Beefeater model that is better positioned to
take advantage of market growth.”
This is at the heart of the matter:“Building brand
reputations to encourage people to visit us and
then delivering a service that lives up to and exceeds
that reputation.”
For Shannon, this is entirely down to the calibre of
those working in the businesses.“If you can’t recruit
and retain great people, the rest is irrelevant,” he says.
“Our biggest single success in 2003 has been
in getting our people really engaged in their work.”

Over the past year, Brewsters has made effective use
of television and radio advertising in selected regions
to strengthen brand perceptions with its target market
of young families.

Pizza Hut Express – the new
take-away outlet from
Britain’s biggest pizza brand.
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The innovative menu mix
at TGI Friday’s, including
Jack Daniel’s Three For All
sharing appetizer, creates high
demand and high value meals.

Brewers Fayre is the
UK’s leading pub
restaurant brand –
and increasing its lead.

Measures of success
Individual brands have received very public recognition
of their work in this area; none more so than TGI Friday’s,
which in 2003 ranked 3 1st and 52nd in roll-calls of top
UK employers compiled by (respectively) the Financial
Times and the Sunday Times.
Across Whitbread Restaurants the number of employees
who claim to enjoy their work rose by 10% points.There
is now not a single brand scoring under 85% against
this measure.
The impact on the bottom line is significant.
“We reduced employee turnover by 7% over the year.
This means that – taken as a whole – we have a more
committed and more expert workforce than we did
a year ago and we have greater control over costs
related to recruitment and training.”

Increasing performance
This is part of what Shannon calls the ‘faster, better,
lower cost’approach which is helping to generate
higher performance from each of the restaurant brands.
“You cannot re-invent your brands every three or four
years in a constant attempt to follow consumer trends
and chase growth – it’s simply not sustainable. The
most important innovations are the incremental ones
– those everyday ideas that act as minor adjustments
to boost performance.
“In the past year over 90% of our profit improvement
has come from running our existing businesses better.”
That said, there remains a clear expansion agenda for
the majority of Whitbread’s restaurant brands – but
it is a right that must be earned. In 2003/4, the
company will add new outlets to its Brewsters, Brewers
Fayre, Pizza Hut and Costa businesses.
“We are, quite simply, smarter at finding development
opportunities, because we don’t view individual
brands in isolation and are prepared to consider the
unorthodox,” explains Shannon.

Smarter thinking
Over the past three years, Costa has defined the
‘profitable coffee shop model’, through co-location
with third-party retailers, including Waterstone’s,
Ottakar’s and WH Smith’s bookshops; Homebase;
Virgin Megastores; branches of Abbey National; and
attractions under the Tussaud’s group such as Alton
Towers, The London Eye and Madame Tussaud’s
in London.
The strength of the brand has led to franchise
agreements – both at home, with the motorway
services group, RoadChef – and overseas, with around
150 stores due to open in the Middle East.
Meanwhile a significant element of Pizza Hut’s drive
from 500 outlets to 750 will be fuelled by home
delivery franchises. And it has taken a lead from Costa
in the development of express take-away outlets in
principal rail stations.
Conversely, Shannon has shown that he will not shy
away from making tough decisions if brands do not
perform. Over the last two years, he has shrunk the
under-performing Beefeater pub restaurant business
by nearly 20%.
“There may come a time when Beefeater starts to
grow again, but I would need firm evidence of value
creation. And that means getting performance up to
the levels we are seeing in our other pub restaurant
businesses.”
The last few years have been exciting, interesting and
at times just plain tough for his team at Whitbread
Restaurants:“We’ve had to sell a number of underperforming businesses but we have also shown that
we are capable of running restaurant businesses
better than any of our direct competitors.”

“We will work in tandem with Travel Inn to grow
Brewers Fayre and Brewsters, while Pizza Hut
and Costa will continue to seek out and nurture
partnering arrangements”.
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“The more you put into
something the more you
get out of it. It’s what our
personal trainers tell our
members. It’s true in sport,
it’s true in life and it’s true
in business”

Sitting in the clubroom at David Lloyd Leisure in Epsom, Stewart Miller
reflects on another strong performance from his business in what has
been a difficult year for many in the fitness industry.
While others have stumbled, David Lloyd Leisure’s steady like-for-like sales
growth has provided the springboard for a stunning 26% rise in operating
profits and, critically, for the second year in succession, more than a full
percentage point improvement in return on capital employed.
“The first thing you have to understand is that David Lloyd Leisure is not
like any other business. It is not a gym, although we have some of the
largest and best equipped gyms in Europe; it is not a tennis centre,
although we are the UK’s number one tennis operator. These facilities
help to define us, but they are not who we are.
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Stewart Miller
Managing Director,
David Lloyd Leisure

“Families are our business. We plan activities that
allow parents to follow their own interests while
the children are developing their skills – the club
atmosphere that is unique to David Lloyd Leisure
brings it all together”

76%
member retention –
highest in sector
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“Above all else, David Lloyd Leisure is a club. We provide
a framework for how our members choose to spend
their free time. It doesn’t have to be about working out
or playing tennis.”
Indeed, given the proliferation of David Lloyd Leisure
jazz evenings, running clubs, ski trips, triathlon groups
and foreign language classes, it’s a surprise that some
members find time to make it to the gym at all.

Relationships are everything
“We don’t work on the ‘maximum person
throughput’ basis. At our clubs, people
stay longer, bring more of their family
and do more things with us”

“We give people more reasons to join David Lloyd
Leisure and more reasons to stay with us”, says Miller.
“This is why we are able to grow sales within our
existing club base and why our member retention
rates are around 16% points higher than the industry
average.”
He is clear that the business’s decision to target
families has been a key factor in its success. The club
runs the largest junior tennis programme in Europe
(some 8,000 children learn to smash, volley and serve
in his clubs every week); while the recently launched
High Fives Club has opened up a wide range of
activities for younger members.“We like to think that
David Lloyd Leisure has something for everyone – it’s
very much an inclusive brand,” he says.

6.1%

like-for-like sales growth,
year-over-year

The sheer scale of clubs which can accommodate
indoor and outdoor tennis courts, squash courts,
indoor and outdoor swimming pools, aerobics studios,
nurseries and crèches as well as large gyms is a
significant competitive advantage. However, the real
strength of the business lies in is its approach to its
members.

Fit for growth
In 2002, David Lloyd Leisure launched the Health
and Fitness Experience, with the aim of strengthening
retention levels by helping members to identify and
achieve personal fitness goals.
At the same time, Miller also decided that personal
fitness training qualifications would need to be
standardised across the business. In a genuine first
for the UK fitness industry, the company brought
in respected US sports organisation, the National
Academy of Sports Medicine, to work with its own
experts on the project.

David Lloyd Leisure employs fully-trained
and professional staff throughout its clubs.
From tennis, to swimming to working-out,
the motivation and instruction of members
is key to their loyalty to the club.
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Raising the bar

In 2003, over 500 David Lloyd Leisure fitness professionals
will graduate from Campus, the academy set up to
facilitate the scheme.The NVQ-level diplomas in fitness
training that they emerge with are linked, directly and
transparently, to salary (depending on how many of the
four grades of diploma have been achieved).“There is a
simple logic governing all of this,”says Miller.“We know
that our members and employees will only stay with us
for as long as they value what we give them.

At the same time, higher standards have been set
for the roll-out of new clubs.
Miller has set up a design efficiency team to examine
ways to reduce the cost of club development. The
resultant club model will require less land, be cheaper
to run and cost around £1 million less to build, yet is as
impressive and as commercially successful as
anything that has gone before. And we are building
club membership faster.“Take this place,” says Miller,
with a sweep of the arm that takes in the Epsom club’s
7 tennis courts, 3 squash courts, swimming pools,
dance studios, spa and gym.“By the time we opened
this club in August last year, over 3,000 members had
signed up – that’s around four times as many as we
used to expect.”

“The steps we have taken this year give our members
quality-assurance and the very best in personal fitness
training, as well as the support and encouragement
that they need; while our employees get the chance to
learn from the very best, to advance their careers and
to get more out of work.”

A strengthening market

He is a disciple of the company’s rigorous approach to
investment and knows that for David Lloyd Leisure to
continue to grow it has to earn the right to do so.“This
is a returns-focused business. Every major investment
decision we make is determined by whether or not it is
value enhancing for our shareholders and our members.

Meanwhile, the business stands to benefit from a
predicted rise in the personal training market. As Miller
points out, it is still a massively under-exploited revenue
stream, with just 1.5% of UK gym users having personal
training, compared with around 10% in the USA.
Indeed while physical growth of the business remains
a key priority – 100 clubs is the target by the end of
the decade – Whitbread sees exciting value creation
opportunities within David Lloyd Leisure’s existing
55 clubs.
The goal has been to redefine the fundamental David
Lloyd Leisure business model to drive additional growth
out of existing clubs and to bring new clubs to
profitability faster.
Clubs that had previously been considered mature
have been tasked with improving yield through a
focus on attracting more off-peak members.

“There are no doubts that there are still huge
opportunities in the UK for the health and fitness club
industry and that David Lloyd Leisure is in the perfect
position to exploit predicted market growth. But this
is not a headlong scramble for market share.
“By building the right clubs in the right places, by
looking after the needs of our members and by
retaining and developing our best people we are
building a business that is capable of creating and
sustaining significant value for Whitbread investors.”

This has led to a growth in classes aimed at young
families and retired people, who typically might be
interested in using a club outside of the busy evening
and weekend periods.
And as clubs strengthen the bond with their
members, the opportunities to grow revenue increase
commensurately:“on tennis coaching, on fitness
training and on food and drink.”

Club lounges are the new ‘locals’ for
members, many of whom choose to
just drop in, regardless of whether they
have other activities planned.

page 25

Board of Directors

Sir John Banham, chairman

David Thomas CBE, chief executive

David Richardson, finance director

Sir John was appointed a director in
November 1999 and became chairman
in June 2000. He is a member of the
Remuneration and Audit Committees
and chairman of the Nomination
Committee. His other appointments
include chairman of ECI Partners LLP,
Geest PLC and Cyclacel Limited. He is
also the senior non-executive director
of Amvescap PLC. He was chairman
of Kingfisher plc from 1996 to 2001
and of Tarmac PLC from 1993 to 1999.
Previously Sir John was a director of
McKinsey and Co before becoming the
first controller of the Audit Commission
in 1983 and director general of the CBI
in 1987. He was also the first chairman
of the Local Government Commission
for England from 1992 to 1995 and the
founding chairman of Westcountry
Television. Aged 62.

Appointed chief executive in June 1997,
he is also a member of the Nomination
Committee. David has been at
Whitbread since 1984 and a director
since May 1991. His roles have included
managing director of Whitbread Inns
and Whitbread Restaurants and Leisure.
Previously, he was with Finefare, Linfood
and Grand Metropolitan. He is a
non-executive director of Xansa PLC
and a trustee of In Kind Direct. Aged 59.

Having previously been strategic
planning director, David became finance
director in March 2001. He has been with
Whitbread since 1983 and was appointed
to the board in May 1996. He was
previously at ICL, having qualified as an
accountant with Touche Ross. Aged 51.

Bill Shannon

Stewart Miller

Alan Parker

Managing director of Whitbread
Restaurants, Bill has been a director
of Whitbread since December 1994.
He joined the company in 1974 as a
finance manager and has since been
managing director of Beefeater
Restaurant and Pub, Thresher,
Whitbread Pub Partnerships and
Whitbread Inns. He is a non-executive
director of Aegon PLC and a director
of Pizza Hut (UK). Aged 53.

Managing director of David Lloyd
Leisure since May 2001 and a director
of Whitbread since May 2000, Stewart
has been with Whitbread since 1981.
His roles have included operations
director and chief executive of Pizza
Hut UK, operations director of
Beefeater, sales and marketing director
of Whitbread Inns and managing
director of Whitbread Pub Partnerships
and Whitbread Pubs & Bars. He is a
director of Business In Sport and
Leisure Limited. Aged 50.

Alan joined Whitbread as managing
director of Whitbread Hotel Company
in 1992 and was appointed to the
board in May 2000. Prior to joining
Whitbread Alan was senior vicepresident of Holiday Inn Europe,
Middle East and Africa, based in
Brussels. Before that he was managing
director of Crest Hotels Europe, based
in Frankfurt. Alan is visiting professor
at the University of Surrey, a board
member of VisitBritain and a director
of the British Hospitality Association.
Aged 56.
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Rod Kent*, senior independent
non-executive director
Rod was appointed a director on
1 September 2002, and senior
independent non-executive director
on 24 April 2003. Rod is also chairman
of Whitbread Pension Trustees Limited
and a member of the Remuneration,
Audit and Nomination Committees.
Having stepped down as managing
director of Close Brothers Group in
October 2002 he remains a nonexecutive director. Rod is chairman
of Bradford & Bingley plc and
Grosvenor Ltd, a non-executive director
of Grosvenor Group Holdings Ltd and
a trustee of the Esmée Fairburn
Foundation. Aged 55.

Prue Leith*

Charles Gurassa*

Appointed a director in September
1995, Prue is a member of the
Remuneration, Audit and Nomination
Committees. She is a non-executive
director of Woolworths Group PLC
and a former non-executive director of
Safeway PLC and Halifax PLC. Aged 63.

Appointed a director in July 2000,
Charles is chairman of the
Remuneration Committee and a
member of the Nomination Committee.
He is currently chairman of TUI
Northern Europe Limited and TUI Airline
Group and an executive director of TUI
AG, having formerly been with British
Airways as head of Leisure,World Sales
and director of Passenger and Cargo
Business. Aged 47.

David Turner*

Lord Williamson*

Appointed a director in January
2001, David is chairman of the Audit
Committee and a member of the
Remuneration and Nomination
Committees. Previously finance
director of GKN PLC, he is now the
chief financial officer of the Brambles
Group comprising Brambles Industries
plc in the UK and Brambles Industries
Limited in Australia. Aged 58.

Appointed a director in May 1998.
Before this, Lord Williamson was
secretary-general of the European
Commission from 1987 to 1997, having
been head of the European Secretariat,
UK Cabinet Office from 1983 to 1987
and deputy director general for
agriculture at the Commission
between 1977 and 1983. He is a
member of the Audit, Remuneration
and Nomination Committees. Aged 68.

*Independent non-executive director
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Directors’ report

The directors present their report and accounts
for the year ended 1 March 2003.
Principal activities and review of the business
A detailed review of the company’s activities, the
development of its businesses, and an indication of
likely future developments are given on pages 4 to 25.

Results and dividends
The group profit before tax for the year amounted to
£214 million before exceptional items, £202.8 million
after exceptional items.The directors have recommended
a final dividend for the year of 14.30 pence per share.
The dividend will be payable on 11 July 2003 to
shareholders on the register at close of business on
9 May 2003. The total dividend for the year, including
the interim dividend of 5.57 pence paid on 7 January
2003, amounts to 19.87 pence per share. The company
aims to pay dividends of approximately 40% of profits
after tax, giving a dividend cover of some 2.5 times.
Shareholders may participate in a dividend
re-investment plan, under which their cash dividend
is used to purchase additional shares in the company.
Further details can be found on page 73.

Board of directors
The directors are listed on pages 26 and 27. With the
exception of Rod Kent, who was appointed to the
board on 1 September 2002, all of the directors served
throughout the financial year. John Padovan retired
from the board on 18 June 2002.
Rod Kent will stand for election and Charles Gurassa,
David Turner and Bill Shannon will stand for
re-election at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting
(AGM) in accordance with the company’s Articles of
Association. Details of directors’ service contracts are
given on page 34. None of the non-executive directors
has a service contract.
Details of the directors’ interests in shares of
Whitbread PLC are shown in the Remuneration report
on pages 36 to 40.

Share capital
Throughout the year, the authorised share capital
has been £315,000,000 divided into 630,000,000
ordinary shares of 50 pence each. Details of the issued
share capital can be found in note 25 in the notes to
the accounts.

Major interests
As at 25 April 2003, the company had been notified
by AXA S.A. of an interest in 37,347,368 shares
representing 12.62% of the issued capital of the
company; by Legal & General Investment
Management Ltd of an interest in 11,998,672 shares
representing 4.05% of the issued share capital of the
company; and by Standard Life Investments Limited
of an interest in 11,047,220 shares representing 3.73%
of the issued capital of the company.
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Social responsibility
Social responsibility is integral to the company’s business
behaviour and is reflected in its relationships with all of its
stakeholders – shareholders,employees,suppliers,
customers and the communities in which the company
carries on its business.Whitbread believes that business
has a role to play in creating a healthy community in which
to trade and that being a good corporate citizen is an
essential ingredient to achieving sustainable growth.To
demonstrate the importance of social reponsibility to the
company a separate social responsibility report will now
appear on the company’s website (www.whitbread.co.uk).
Whitbread is committed to offering its people a rewarding
and challenging workplace and to becoming an Employer
of Choice as demonstrated by current and past employees
recommending the company as a great place to work.
To support the achievement of this,Whitbread offers a
range of policies covering such issues as diversity,employee
wellbeing and equal opportunities to ensure that all
employees across our brands are treated fairly and
consistently and are given access to the same opportunities.
As part of an ongoing and rigorous policy review process,
the company is committed to implementing a formal
disability management policy to include a detailed training
programme to ensure thatWhitbread is capable of offering
people with disabilities the same employment opportunities
as other employees.
If an employee becomes disabled in the course of his or
her work with the group,full support can be provided,for
example,through training programmes,to ensure that,
wherever possible,the individual can remain in continued
employment within the group.
The recruitment and retention of highly motivated and
talented people is essential.Great emphasis is therefore
placed on improving skills,expertise and performance of
employees through a continuing programme of training
and development.
The company is also committed to increasing employee
involvement in the business and believes that open and
regular communication at all levels is an essential part of
the management process.Employees have opportunities
to express their views and receive information about the
company at regular meetings with management,via elected
representatives at“Business Improvement Groups”,and
through regular employee opinion surveys.
Whitbread seeks to give its employees a direct stake in the
business and to align the interests of employees with those
of other shareholders through share schemes. In June 2002,
279,506 ordinary shares were issued to the trustees of the
Share Ownership Scheme on behalf of 10,931 employees.
Due to changes in legislation, the Scheme has now come
to an end and that was the last appropriation made to
employees under that Scheme.
In December 2002, 3,177 employees were granted options
over 1,524,445 shares at 441.2 pence under the terms of the
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Sharesave Scheme.Presently,some 6,000employees hold
options over some five million shares under that Scheme.
During the year 57 senior executives were granted
options over a total of 1,081,000 shares under the
executive share option schemes.These options may
only be exercised if the performance criteria described
on page 33 are met.
Potential awards over 170,766 shares were made to
senior executives under the Long Term Incentive Plan,
which is described on page 34.
As at 25 April 2003 there were outstanding options
over 9,557,553 ordinary shares,representing 3.23%
of the company’s issued share capital.
During the past year Whitbread’s community investment
programme has undergone a major restructuring with
“helping young people achieve their potential”as its core
theme.During the year Whitbread’s contribution to its
community investment programme was just over
£2 million,made up of direct cash contributions,donated
employee time,money raised and equipment donated
through the company’s highly successful CARE
programme.Recent highlights have been:
– the launch of the Whitbread Young Achiever
awards celebrating the achievements of young
people throughout the UK;
– raising over £400,000 through David Lloyd Leisure
and Marriott support for the Sport Relief campaign;
– the various restaurants brands raising over £500,000
for Comic Relief’s 2003 Red Nose Day.
The environment is an area in which the company has
made significant progress during the last year.Energy
use,waste and water consumption have all been
reduced across the company’s businesses,whilst more
robust information and tracking systems have been
put in place to accurately measure the company’s
environmental performance year on year.
Whitbread is wholly committed to an ethical way of
operating and sets out clear standards of behaviour
for all employees in the Code of Business Ethics.This
code extends to dealings with suppliers and the
company’s fair trading policy sets the objective of
ensuring that suppliers share the company’s values
and commit to meeting its standards.
The company supports the Health & Safety Commission’s
“Revitalising Health & Safety Strategy”and is aware of the
Commission’s guidance on disclosures that companies
are encouraged to make.The company continues to
develop reporting systems and procedures to assist in
complying with these guidelines.
Further information on the company’s health & safety
policy and procedures,as well as in depth information
on people,community investment, the environment
and fair trading can be found in the social responsibility
report on the company’s website (www.whitbread.co.uk).

Supplier payment policy
The group keeps to the payment terms which have been
agreed with suppliers. Where payment terms have not
been specifically agreed, it is the group’s policy to settle
invoices close to the end of the month following the
month of invoicing. The group’s ability to keep to these
terms is dependent upon suppliers sending accurate and
adequately detailed invoices to the correct address on a
timely basis.The group had 44 days’purchases outstanding
at 1 March 2003, based on the trade creditors outstanding
at that date and purchases made during the year.

Auditors
Ernst & Young LLP have expressed their willingness to
continue in office as auditors of the company and a
resolution proposing their re-appointment will be put
to shareholders at the AGM.
After proper consideration, the Audit Committee is satisfied
that the company’s auditors, Ernst & Young LLP, continue
to be objective and independent of the company.
The Audit Committee has considered what work should not
be carried out by the external auditors and have concluded
that certain services including internal audit and IT consulting
services will not be carried out by Ernst & Young LLP.

Purchase of own shares
The company is authorised to purchase, in the market,
the company’s own shares. Although no such purchases
have been made during the year, approval to renew
this authority for a further year will be sought from
shareholders at the 2003 AGM.

Post balance sheet event
As described in note 7 to the accounts, in April 2003,
the company agreed with Whitbread Pension Trustees
Limited that the company will continue to fund the
pension scheme for a period of up to 15 years.

Annual General Meeting
The AGM will be held at 2.00pm on 17 June 2003 at The
Queen Elizabeth II Conference Centre, Broad Sanctuary,
Westminster, London SW1P 3EE. The notice of meeting
is enclosed with this report and is accompanied by a
letter from the chairman.

By order of the board

S C Barratt,
Company Secretary
29 April 2003
Registered office:
CityPoint
One Ropemaker Street
London
EC2Y 9HX

Registered in England:
No. 4120344
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Whitbread is committed to high standards of corporate
governance as set out in Section 1 of the Combined Code(1).
This report sets out how the principles set out in the Code
have been applied.
The board continues to monitor recent developments
in corporate governance, including the Higgs review on
the role of non-executives and the Smith report on audit
committees,and to review the company’s performance and
activities with these in mind. The board will utilise
recommendations ahead of statutory or regulatory
implementation where it believes that these offer ways
of improving board effectiveness or business performance.
The company has complied with the provisions set out
in Section 1 of the Combined Code throughout the year
with the exception of certain provisions relating to
directors’ service contracts and the appointment of
a senior non-executive independent director, although
such an appointment has now been made. These
exceptions are explained in the report below and
in the Remuneration report.

Shareholder relations
The company recognises the importance of dialogue with
both institutional and private shareholders. Institutional
shareholders, fund managers and analysts are briefed at
regular meetings and presentations. In 2002/3 over 100
meetings were held with institutional shareholders, either
one to one or as part of a larger grouping, both in the UK
and abroad.The chairman, executive directors, and the
corporate affairs director all play an active part in these
meetings. As an example, recent meetings have focused
on detailed questions on delivery of financial targets,
growth prospects for the major brands, differentiation of
the Whitbread brands and prospects for the UK economy
and consumer confidence in 2003.The board also receives
regular reports on share price performance, movements
in institutional holdings and the response by institutions
to the communications programme.
Annual and interim results presentations are webcast
live so that all shareholders can receive the same
information at the same time. The company’s website
provides comprehensive information for private
shareholders and receives over half a million hits a year.
Private shareholders have the opportunity to put
questions to the board at the AGM, and at all other
times by e-mailing or writing to the company. Any
shareholder may contact the chairman or chief
executive to raise any issue, or may raise any such issue
with one or all of the non-executive directors of the
company. The company secretary can facilitate any
such communication if requested.

The board
In the year under review the board consisted of the
chairman, five independent non-executive directors
and five executive directors. There is a clear division
of responsibility between the chairman, who leads
the board, and the chief executive, who is responsible
for the running of the business.
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The company has a formal procedure for the
appointment of directors by means of the Nomination
Committee (see below). New directors stand for
re-election at the AGM following their appointment.
Every director is required to retire by rotation, and may
stand for re-election if nominated by the committee, at
least every third year. All new appointments of nonexecutive directors are for an initial fixed term of three
years. The board has recently approved a guideline that
non-executive directors should normally be expected
to serve two three-year terms, although a longer term
may be appropriate. An induction to the company’s
business and training is available for all directors on
appointment.
The board meets at least 11 times a year and has a
formal schedule of matters reserved to it for decision,
which include annual and interim results, the group
business plan, treasury policy and major acquisitions
and disposals. Directors are given timely and
appropriate information for each board meeting,
including monthly financial and trading reports.
A number of board meetings take place at different
Whitbread locations. To increase further the directors’
knowledge of the business, other visits to Whitbread
sites are arranged. The company secretary ensures that
the board is briefed on legal and regulatory issues, such
as health and safety.
The performance of the board is appraised annually
by the chairman, in consultation with each director.
Reviews will include individual evaluation of directors
and their training and development needs. Nonexecutives will in future meet as a group with the
chairman at least once a year. The chief executive and
finance director hold a performance review meeting
with each operating division board on a regular basis.
The non-executive directors bring to the board
considerable knowledge and experience from other
areas of business and public life. The board considers
that all of the non-executives are independent and
endorses the definition of independence annexed to
the Higgs review. The board has recently appointed Rod
Kent as the senior independent non-executive director.

Board committees
The board has delegated authority to the following
committees on specific matters, which are set out in
a written constitution and terms of reference for each
committee.
The Audit Committee reviews the company’s internal
controls and ensures that the financial information
supplied to shareholders presents a balanced assessment
of the company’s position. It is responsible for reviewing
the internal audit programme and major findings
of audit reviews. It also advises the board on the
appointment of the external auditors and reviews their
independence, scope of work and fees.
The committee reviews the half-year financial
statements, annual accounts and accompanying

(1) The principles of good governance and code of best practise
appended to the Listing Rules of the UK Listing Authority.
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reports to shareholders before their submission to
the board. The committee members are David Turner
(chairman), Prue Leith, Rod Kent and Lord Williamson,
all independent non-executive directors, and Sir John
Banham. The committee meets three times a year,
with the finance director and other officers also
attending. It also meets with the auditors at least
annually, without an executive director present.
The Remuneration Committee is responsible for
determining broad policy for the remuneration
of the executive directors and members of the Group
Executive and for determining their entire individual
remuneration packages. The committee takes advice
from remuneration consultants Towers Perrin.
The report on directors’ remuneration on pages 32 to 40
gives full details of the company’s policy on executive
remuneration and of individual directors’ remuneration
packages. Throughout the financial year ended 1 March
2003 the company complied with the provisions on
the design of performance related remuneration as
set out in Schedule A of the Combined Code and the
Remuneration report has been prepared in accordance
with Schedule B of the Code.
The committee meets at least twice a year and details
of its membership can be found in the Remuneration
report on page 32.
The Nomination Committee makes recommendations
to the board for appointment and re-election of
directors, both executive and non-executive. The
committee uses external recruitment consultants
where appropriate. No director is involved in any
decision about his or her own re-appointment.
The committee members are Sir John Banham
(chairman), David Thomas together with Charles
Gurassa, Prue Leith, Rod Kent, David Turner and Lord
Williamson all of whom are independent nonexecutive directors.
The board has delegated authority to the General
Purposes Committee to deal with business of a routine
nature and with other specific matters delegated to it by
the board.The committee is made up of at least two
directors designated by the board and meets as required.
In addition to the above, the Group Executive meets
monthly and deals with the day-to-day management
of the company. It comprises the executive directors,
Angie Risley (human resources director) and
Tim Hammond (corporate development director).

Internal control
The board is responsible for the group’s system of
internal control and for reviewing its effectiveness. Such
a system is designed to manage rather than eliminate
the risk of failure to achieve business objectives. It can
only provide reasonable, and not absolute, assurance
against material misstatement or loss.
The board has established an ongoing process for
identifying, evaluating and managing the group’s
significant risks. This process was in place throughout

the 2002/3 financial year. The process is regularly
reviewed by the board and accords with the internal
control guidance for directors on the Combined Code.
Key elements of the group’s risk management and
internal control system include:
– the formulation, evaluation and annual approval
by the board of business plans and budgets. Actual
results are reported monthly against budget and
the previous year’s figures. Key risks are identified
and action plans prepared accordingly;
– the production by each business of an annual risks
and controls matrix, covering major risks and plans
to mitigate against those risks. These matrices are
considered by the Group Executive and the
Audit Committee;
– a quarterly review by the Group Executive and the
board of changes in the major risks facing the group
and development of the appropriate action plans;
– the Treasury Committee, which reviews treasury
activities monthly. The committee is chaired by the
finance director. Treasury activities are conducted in
accordance with detailed procedures and mandates;
– the consideration of risks and the appropriate action
plans, when appraising and approving all major
capital and revenue projects and change programmes.
A post completion review of each major project
is undertaken;
– financial policies, controls and procedures manuals,
which are regularly reviewed and updated;
– the limits of authority, which are prescribed for
employees. The group’s organisational structure
allows the appropriate segregation of tasks;
– the group’s Code of Business Ethics, which is briefed
annually to employees;
– the internal audit function, which reports on the
effectiveness of operational and financial controls
across the group. The Audit Committee regularly
reviews the major findings from both internal and
external audit.
The board has carried out a specific assessment of
the group’s system of internal control for the purpose
of this annual report. The Group Executive and Audit
Committees have assisted the board in discharging
these responsibilities.

Code of business ethics
The company takes the view that corporate governance
is not a matter for the board or its committees alone
and has developed a Code of Business Ethics, which is
briefed annually to employees. This covers dealings
with customers, suppliers and government officials;
safeguarding the company’s assets; keeping accurate
and reliable records; and avoiding conflicts of interest.
Its principal message is that all employees must
observe a code of conduct based on honesty, integrity
and fair dealing.
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This report has been drawn up in accordance with
Schedule B of the Combined Code and has been
approved by both the Remuneration Committee and
the board. In line with recent changes in legislation,
shareholders will be invited to approve the report at
the company’s AGM. In advance of this requirement
the company put the report to the vote at last year’s
AGM.The Remuneration Committee’s terms of reference
and a description of its activities are set out on page 31.
Part 3 of Schedule 7a to the Companies Act 1985
requires that certain parts of the Remuneration report
are audited, whilst certain other parts are not.
Throughout this report those sections that have been
audited are marked as ‘audited information’ for the
sake of clarity.

Shareholders may wish to note that:
– the chairman, the executive directors and members
of the group executive agreed to defer the date of
their 2002 annual pay review by six months (until
October 2002) following the immediate trading effects
of 11 September 2001 and the Foot and Mouth outbreak;
– the average salary increase awarded across the
Whitbread Group during the year was 3.2%;
– this report complies with the requirements of the
Directors’ Remuneration Regulations 2002 which
came into force on 1 August 2002;
– an explanation of certain terms used in this report
is given on page 33.

Remuneration committee and advisers
The Remuneration Committee is chaired by Charles
Gurassa, an independent non-executive director. The
other members of the committee are Sir John Banham,
chairman of Whitbread, and Rod Kent, Prue Leith,
David Turner and Lord Williamson, all independent
non-executive directors. John Padovan resigned in June
2002, when he stepped down as a director of the
company. The Committee recommends to the board
specific overall remuneration packages for executive
directors and approves the approach to remuneration
for all other senior executives.
The Remuneration Committee takes specialist advice
from independent consultants Towers Perrin on the
level and structure of executive remuneration both
generally in relation to the UK market and specifically
in relation to a relevant comparator group of companies.
Slaughter and May advised the company on legal
aspects in relation to executive remuneration
arrangements. Internal advisers to the Remuneration
Committee were Angie Risley, group human resources
director and Gillian Gilmour, director of compensation
& benefits.
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Remuneration policy
The company’s policy for directors’remuneration for
2002/3 and subsequent financial years is that the
overall package will be sufficiently competitive to
attract, retain, and motivate high calibre executives.
They will be expected to have the skills, expertise and
enthusiasm to achieve the group’s objectives and to
enhance shareholder value. Such remuneration
packages will reward them in line with both their
personal contribution and the company’s overall
success. Specifically, the policy for base salaries is to
ensure that these are within the mid market range
when compared with our comparator group of
companies and that total remuneration is within the
upper quartile range of the comparator group of
companies for exceptional performance.
The following comprise the components of remuneration
of executive directors and senior executives:

Base salary and benefits
Before awarding any base salary increases to directors,
careful consideration is given to trading circumstances
across the whole group and to average salary increases
for Whitbread employees as a whole, as well as market
movement in the salaries for equivalent positions in
the comparator group. In addition to the base salary
and the annual performance-related payments
outlined below, other taxable benefits are provided to
executive directors. These are health care, a fully
expensed company car, discount on company products
and a monthly allocation of Leisure Vouchers (the
latter two are available to all employees). Further
details of taxable benefits are given on page 36.

Annual performance-related payments
The executive directors are eligible to receive an annual
incentive payment based on the achievement of agreed
profit targets and personal objectives.
For the year under review the profit-related incentive
payments were based on company profit achievement
for executive directors with group-wide responsibility
and on a combination of group and divisional
achievement for divisional managing directors.
Payments related to the achievement of personal
objectives are based on ‘balanced scorecard’ objectives,
including such elements as increasing sales, reducing
operating costs, the development of our people and
maximising customer satisfaction, and individual
objectives where these are over and above normal
day-to-day job responsibilities.
In the year under review the annual incentive
arrangements for directors provided for a maximum
payment of up to 60% of salary for the achievement
of ‘stretch’ profit targets and up to a further 20% for
the achievement of personal objectives. The actual
awards are shown in the table on page 36.
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The Remuneration Committee approved the targets
that were set at the beginning of the financial year
and have approved the actual bonuses paid.
The targets were set according to the commercial
strategy of the company at the start of the financial
year under review.
In December 2002 the Remuneration Committee
approved an amendment to the annual incentive
arrangements for senior executives.This means that,
in future years, the revised incentive arrangements will
better align with the creation of shareholder value.To
achieve this the company will need to focus on its strong
brand portfolio and maintain its quest for exceeding
customers’expectations in each of its successful brands.
With the above objectives in mind, the Remuneration
Committee has agreed to the replacement of the
previous annual incentive arrangements with new
annual arrangements which will:
– continue to concentrate on rewarding only
exceptional performance whilst at the same time
developing a closer relationship between bonuses
earned and the economic profit of the business;
– defer a part of the annual bonus providing that
certain minimum annual targets are met and award
it in shares that will, under normal circumstances,
vest three years later.
The new arrangements will run in respect of the
2003/4 financial year and then annually subject
to ongoing review by the Remuneration Committee
to ensure that it is meeting the company’s objectives.
The performance targets will be established each
year based on a profit expectation for the relevant
operating unit. As in previous years, the targets will
comprise a blend of financial and personal targets. The
financial targets will be based on economic profit. Each
operating unit will receive at the beginning of each
financial year a statement as to what their economic
profit targets will be. A bonus will only be paid if an
individual achieves an overall performance rating
which satisfies a minimum standard for general role
responsibilities and for meeting personal goals which
reflect the company’s growth objectives.

Executive share option schemes
Audited information:
Executive directors and other senior executives are
granted options over shares in the company under
two executive share option schemes, one of which has
been approved by the Inland Revenue. The share option
schemes are designed to incentivise executives to
achieve stretch performance targets.
Under the schemes a fixed number of options are
granted to directors and senior executives annually
in line with market practice. Executive options
are granted at the average market price on the
five dealing days preceding the date of grant.
Executives may not, under normal circumstances,
exercise options earlier than three years nor more than
ten years after the grant. Options granted since 1996
are performance-related. Options granted between
1996 and 2000 cannot be exercised unless either
adjusted EPS growth exceeds the Retail Prices Index
(RPI) + 2% per annum over any three consecutive years
during the life of the option or TSR exceeds the average
of the FTSE 100 index over the same period. In order to
align these objectives with shareholder value, the
committee has specified that options granted since
June 2000 may only be exercised if the growth in the
company’s adjusted earnings per share has exceeded
the RPI by more than 4% per annum measured over
any three consecutive years out of the ten year
performance period. The Remuneration Committee
reviews the performance criteria, the level of grant and
the method of retesting for the executive share option
schemes on an annual basis.
Executive directors may also participate in the
company’s sharesave scheme which is open to all
employees on the same terms.

Explanation of terms
TSR

Total shareholder return is
the difference between the share
price at the start of a performance
period and that at the end of a
period plus the dividends paid
during the period

EPS

Earnings per share

Economic profit

Operating profit net
of a capital charge

PBIT

Profit before interest and tax
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Long term incentive plan (‘the Plan’)
Audited information:
Participation in the Plan is available to executive directors
and a small number of other nominated senior executives.
The Plan aligns the long-term interests of participants
with those of the company and its shareholders and
is designed to deliver superior performance from
participants and to improve shareholder value.
The Plan rewards executives with shares rather than
cash benefits. Awards are based on three-year
performance periods and are calculated by taking half
of the executive’s salary at the start of the period and
dividing it by the Whitbread share price averaged over
the five business days preceding the start of the
performance period.The measure of performance is
Total Shareholder Return (TSR) which is the difference
between the share price at the start of the performance
period and that at the end of the period plus the
dividends paid during the three years of the Plan.
Awards vest in part if the company performs at
median, increasing to full vesting for top quartile
performance relative to the comparator group of
companies. This means that at the 50th percentile,
50% of the award will be paid out, 70% at the
60th percentile, 90% at the 70th percentile and
100% at the 75th percentile.
For LTIP awards made prior to 2000, TSR performance
was measured against the FTSE 100 group of companies,
with a comparator group being adopted for awards
from 2000.
The performance of the LTIP award made in 2000,
and for which the performance period ended on
28 February 2003, measured against the prevailing
comparator group, reached the 48th percentile, which
meant that no shares were allocated to participants
under the Plan in respect of that period.
For the 2002 award the comparator group of
companies* was as follows:
Allied Domecq
BAA
Boots
Cadbury Schweppes
Compass
De Vere
Debenhams
Dixons
Gallaher

Hilton Group
Imperial Tobacco
Rank
Reckitt Benckiser
Scottish & Newcastle
Tate & Lyle
Uniq
WH Smith

* Albert Fisher, Arcadia and Six Continents were originally part of this

purposes of measuring performance of the LTIP from
the 2003 award. The latter has been chosen as the
FTSE Leisure & Hotels sector index and became
effective from March 2003.

Chairman’s agreement
Sir John Banham has entered into a letter of
agreement with the company setting out the terms
of his appointment as chairman of Whitbread. His
contract, which commenced on 21 June 2000, has been
terminable on one year’s notice by either party since
21 June 2001. The contract also requires that any salary
increase will not exceed the average increase generally
paid to the UK employees of the Whitbread Group.

Directors’ service contracts
Directors’ service contracts for current executive
directors include a two year notice period, although
David Thomas’s employment is due to end when he
retires immediately following the company’s AGM in
2004. In the event that employment with the company
is terminated without notice, the contracts provide for
payment of a specific sum for breach of contract,
which is less than the full two-year payment. This sum
comprises one and a half times each of annual salary,
estimated bonus, car benefit and the cost of private
medical insurance, together with the cost of 18 months’
life assurance. In addition, pension entitlement is
enhanced by crediting 18 months’ additional service.
Commencement dates for contracts (as amended)
were as follows: David Thomas (31 March 1993)
David Richardson (1 November 1993) Bill Shannon
(1 December 1993) Stewart Miller (1 May 1990) Alan
Parker (1 September 1992).
The Remuneration Committee has agreed that new
appointments to the board would be made on the
basis of a service agreement with one year’s notice.
The Committee reserves the right, in exceptional
circumstances, to apply greater flexibility for external
appointments to the board.

Non-executive directors
None of the non-executive directors has a service
contract.

Shareholding guidelines
The company believes that executive shareholding
is an important tool in aligning the interests of
executives and shareholders. Shareholding guidelines
have therefore been developed to ensure that main
board directors and members of the Group Executive
build up a specified level of personal shareholding.

group but their shares are no longer traded.

In October 2002, the Remuneration Committee agreed
to adopt two separate comparator groups of
companies for benchmarking purposes to ensure that
the LTIP is measured against the most relevant peer
group and that base salaries reflect companies of a
profile relevant to Whitbread. There will therefore be
one comparator group for the purposes of senior
salary benchmarking and a separate group for the
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Fees from external directorships
Subject to the board’s approval, executive directors
may accept non-executive directorships and other
relevant appointments outside the company, provided
this would not adversely affect their ability to perform
their Whitbread duties. Executive directors may retain
up to half the fees received from external
appointments. The balance is donated to charity.
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Executive Directors’ Pension schemes
The executive directors are entitled to a pension from the Whitbread Group Pension Fund, which is a defined benefit
pension scheme.
On retirement from service at the normal pension age of 60 the directors will receive an annual pension of two-thirds of
their last 12 months’ basic salary, subject to Inland Revenue limits. As a result of his earnings being restricted by the earnings
cap, Alan Parker is also a member of the Whitbread Unapproved Pension Scheme, an unfunded, unapproved pension scheme.
His total pension from the Whitbread Group Pension Fund and the Whitbread Unapproved Pension Scheme combined on
retirement at age 60 will be two-thirds of his last 12 months’ basic salary. A director retiring early between the ages of 50 and
60 may draw his accrued pension without any actuarial reduction.
In the event of death in service before normal pension age a lump sum benefit of four times basic salary is paid, together
with a spouse’s pension and children’s pensions.
On death after retirement, the director’s spouse will receive a pension equal to 60% of the director’s pension. In addition,
if death occurs within five years after retirement, a lump sum equal to the unpaid balance of five years’pension will be payable.
All pensions are increased annually in line with the RPI up to a maximum of 5%.
Executive directors do not contribute to the above pension schemes.
None of the executive directors are accruing benefits under any other company-sponsored pension arrangements.
No elements of executive directors’ pay packages are pensionable other than basic salary.
Non-executive directors are not entitled to participate in any of these pension arrangements.

Pension entitlements
Audited information:
The pension entitlements of the executive directors are as follows:–

Stewart Miller
Alan Parker
David Richardson
Bill Shannon
David Thomas

Accumulated
accrued benefits
1 March 2003
£

Increase in
accrued benefits
during the year
£

Increase, before
inflation, in
accrued benefits
during the year
£

Transfer value*
of increase,
before inflation,
less directors’
contributions
£

123,3 54
94,925
145,289
175,003
335,496

8,793
12,437
9,995
9,767
26,382

5,127
9,797
5,665
4,479
16,491

51,294
139,256
115,938
89,582
298,787

1 March 2003
£

2 March 2002
£

Movement,
less directors’
contributions
£

1,235,695
1,349,188
2,971,221
3,501,135
6,076,418

1,179,053
1,113,137
2,694,062
3,216,706
5,465,039

56,642
236,051
277,159
284,429
611,379

The transfer value* of each director’s accrued benefits at the end of the financial year is as follows:–

Stewart Miller
Alan Parker
David Richardson
Bill Shannon
David Thomas
* transfer values represent a liability of the pension fund, not a sum paid or due to the individual

In addition to these entitlements, Alan Parker has a further entitlement in respect of a transfer value received from a previous
employer’s pension scheme. The accrued entitlement at 1/3/03 was £42,566 per annum (£40,833 per annum at 2/3/02)
and the transfer value was £604,500 (£550,850 at 2/3/02).
A pension of £10,864 (2001/2 – £11,461) was paid to a former director in excess of his accrued pension entitlement.
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Directors’ remuneration for the year to 1 March 2003
Audited information:
The table below shows a breakdown of the value of the various elements of pay received by the directors for the period from
3 March 2002 to 1 March 2003, except as otherwise indicated.

Chairman
Sir John Banham
Executive directors
Stewart Miller
Alan Parker
David Richardson
Bill Shannon
David Thomas
Non-executive directors
Charles Gurassa
Rod Kent(1) (2)
Prue Leith
John Padovan (1) (2)
David Turner (3)
Lord Williamson

Basic
Salary
£

Taxable
Benefits
£

Performance
related
payments
£

190,164

2,500

–

192,664

192,442

270,741
273,135
3 14,518
323,850
535,172

18,604
22,973
12,853
27,985
16,903

153,740
82,009
170,925
243,123
297,000

443,085
378,117
498,296
594,958
849,075

314,086
328,650
362,049
422,845
627,276

–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–

30,000
13,500
27,000
10,000
28,500
27,000

30,000
–
27,000
30,000
27,000
27,000

30,000
13,500(1)
27,000
10,000(1)
28,500
27,000

Total excluding pensions
2002/3
2001/2
£
£

Total emoluments for the period were £3,092,195. The total for 2001/2 was £2,474,069.
(1)

Fees for part-year.

(2)

In addition to these fees, John Padovan received £7,292 as chairman of Whitbread Pension Trustees Limited between
3 March 2002 and 30 September 2002, whilst Rod Kent was chairman of Whitbread Pension Trustees Limited from
10 October 2002 to 1 March 2003 and received £6,250.

(3)

Includes fees for half a year as chairman of the Audit Committee.

Directors’ interests in shares of Whitbread PLC
Directors’ share interests
Audited information:
The interests of directors in the ordinary shares of 50 pence each in the company are shown below. All holdings are beneficial
and include shares held in trust under the Whitbread Share Ownership Scheme.
Name

Held at
1/3/2003

Held At
3/3/2002*

Sir John Banham
Charles Gurassa
Rod Kent
Prue Leith
Stewart Miller
Alan Parker
David Richardson
Bill Shannon
David Thomas
David Turner
Lord Williamson

28,500
2,798
3,000
3,706
3 1 , 915
17,028
17,068
26, 1 1 7
62,096
2,000
900

28,500
2,798
3,000
3,706
31,370
11,949
14,110
25,223
60,026
2,000
900

* or date of appointment if later
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Share options
Audited information:
The directors held the following share options under the executive share option schemes and the sharesave scheme.
The earliest date on which any of the executive options could have been exercised was June 1996, with the latest being
June 2012. Sharesave options have a six-month exercise period.
Stewart Miller

Number

Date of grant

Exercise price

Exercise date

Last exercise date

1,700
51,900
16,300
5,400
1,600
50,000
50,000
50,000

7 June 1995
8 July 1996
6 June 1997
5 June 1998
16 June 1999
8 June 2000
26 July 2001
10 June 2002

594.2p
727.8p
778.5p
1027.0p
1101.0p
542.4p
661.4p
641.0p

June 1998
July 1999
June 2000
June 2001
June 2002
June 2003
July 2004
June 2005

June 2005
July 2006
June 2007
June 2008
June 2009
June 2010
July 2011
June 2012

Savings related share option scheme

1,080
1,350
614
1,489

8 December 1997
29 November 1999
4 December 2001
3 December 2002

638.6p February 2003
549.7p February 2004
431.0p February 2007
441.2p February 2008

July 2003
July 2004
July 2007
July 2008

Total number of shares under option

231,433

Alan Parker

Number

Date of grant

Exercise price

Exercise date

Last exercise date

61,300
5,000
25,300
4,600
50,000
50,000
50,000

19 June 1996
6 June 1997
5 June 1998
16 June 1999
8 June 2000
26 July 2001
10 June 2002

739.2p
778.5p
1027.0p
1101.0p
542.4p
661.4p
641.0p

June 1999
June 2000
June 2001
June 2002
June 2003
July 2004
June 2005

June 2006
June 2007
June 2008
June 2009
June 2010
July 2011
June 2012

Savings related share option scheme

3,839

4 December 2001

431.0p

February 2007

July 2007

Total number of shares under option

250,039

Executive share option schemes

Executive share option schemes

(180,416 at 3/3/02)

(200,039 at 3/3/02)
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David Richardson

Number

Date of grant

Exercise price

Exercise date

Last exercise date

19,900
40,300
8,400
21,300
19,700
10,900
2,200
50,000
50,000
50,000

29 June 1993
20 June 1994
7 June 1995
8 July 1996
6 June 1997
5 June 1998
16 June 1999
8 June 2000
26 July 2001
10 June 2002

498.8p
537.6p
594.2p
727.8p
778.5p
1027.0p
1101.0p
542.4p
661.4p
641.0p

June 1996
June 1997
June 1998
July 1999
June 2000
June 2001
June 2002
June 2003
July 2004
June 2005

June 2003
June 2004
June 2005
July 2006
June 2007
June 2008
June 2009
June 2010
July 2011
June 2012

Savings related share option scheme

2,451
881

4 December 2000
4 December 2001

413.0p February 2006
431.0p February 2005

July 2006
July 2005

Total number of shares under option

276,032

Executive share option schemes

Bill Shannon

(228,932 at 3/3/02)

Number

Date of grant

Exercise price

Exercise date

Last exercise date

30,200
27,200
40,800
33,500
8,500
50,000
50,000
50,000

7 June 1995
8 July 1996
6 June 1997
5 June 1998
16 June 1999
8 June 2000
26 July 2001
10 June 2002

594.2p
727.8p
778.5p
1027.0p
1101.0p
542.4p
661.4p
641.0p

June 1998
July 1999
June 2000
June 2001
June 2002
June 2003
July 2004
June 2005

June 2005
July 2006
June 2007
June 2008
June 2009
June 2010
June 2011
June 2012

Savings related share option scheme

1,296
352
408
484
1,456

8 December 1997
29 November 1999
4 December 2000
4 December 2001
3 December 2002

638.6p February 2003
549.7p February 2004
413.0p February 2006
431.0p February 2005
441.2p February 2006

July 2003
July 2004
July 2006
July 2005
July 2006

Total number of shares under option

294,196

Executive share option schemes

David Thomas

(242,740 at 3/3/02)

Number

Date of grant

Exercise price

Exercise date

Last exercise date

37,500
13,800
13,400
15,000
64,200
49,000
5,000
80,000
80,000
80,000

29 June 1993
20 June 1994
7 June 1995
8 July 1996
6 June 1997
5 June 1998
16 June 1999
8 June 2000
26 July 2001
10 June 2002

498.8p
537.6p
594.2p
727.8p
778.5p
1027.0p
1101.0p
542.4p
661.4p
641.0p

June 1996
June 1997
June 1998
July 1999
June 2000
June 2001
June 2002
June 2003
July 2004
June 2005

June 2003
June 2004
June 2005
July 2006
June 2007
June 2008
June 2009
June 2010
July 2011
June 2012

Savings related share option scheme

2,345

4 December 2000

413.0p February 2004

July 2004

Total number of shares under option

440,245

Executive share option schemes
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Long term incentive plan
Audited information:
Potential share awards held by the executive directors under the Plan at the beginning and end of the year, details
of the actual awards during the year and their value, are as follows:
Long term incentive plan

Award

Award date

Market price

Performance period

Last date of exercise

Stewart Miller

19,700
20,634

01/03/01
01/03/02

£6.345
£6.361

01/03/01 to 28/02/04
01/03/02 to 28/02/05

01/03/08
01/03/09

Alan Parker

19,700
20,634

01/03/01
01/03/02

£6.345
£6.361

01/03/01 to 28/02/04
01/03/02 to 28/02/05

01/02/08
01/03/09

David Richardson

23,641
23,581

01/03/01
01/03/02

£6.345
£6.361

01/03/01 to 28/02/04
01/03/02 to 28/02/05

01/03/08
01/03/09

Bill Shannon

24,232
25,017

01/03/01
01/03/02

£6.345
£6.361

01/03/01 to 28/02/04
01/03/02 to 28/02/05

01/03/08
01/03/09

David Thomas

39,402
40,679

01/03/01
01/03/02

£6.345
£6.361

01/03/01 to 28/02/04
01/03/02 to 28/02/05

01/03/08
01/03/09

Exercises of options
Audited information:
David Thomas exercised an option over 21,800 shares under the executive share option scheme on 16 December 2002 at
456.8pence per share and sold 21,800 shares at 560.5p per share on that day. The option was granted on 18 December 1992
and would have lapsed in December 2002. The gain made was £22,607.
David Richardson exercised an option over 2,900 shares under the executive share option scheme on 3 July 2002 at 456.8p
per share; the mid market price on that day was 568.5p.The option was granted on18 December 1992 and would have lapsed
in December 2002.He retained the shares,but had he sold the shares on exercise he would have made a gain of £3,239.
Stewart Miller exercised an option on 472 shares under the savings related share options scheme on 17 May 2002 at 584.2p
per share; the mid market price on that day was 646.0p.The option was granted on 9 December 1996.He retained the shares,
but had he sold the shares on exercise he would have made a gain of £292.

Notes
Audited information:
The company funds an employee share ownership plan trust (‘ESOP’) to enable it to acquire and hold shares for the LTIP
and executive share option schemes. The ESOP currently holds 1,415,307 shares; the executive directors each have a technical
interest in these shares as potential beneficiaries of the trust. All dividends on shares in the ESOP are waived by the Trustee.
During the period from 1 March 2003 to 25 April 2003 no director has exercised his option to call for the transfer of his shares
out of the LTIP.
The mid-market price of Whitbread ordinary shares on the last business day before 1 March 2003 was 521p (2 March 2002 633p).
The highest and lowest price paid between these dates was 689.5p and 459.5p respectively.
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Changes since 1 March 2003
Audited information:
As a result of the reinvestment of income arising from Personal Equity Plans, Stewart Miller acquired two shares,
David Richardson acquired eight shares , and David Thomas acquired 22 shares.
There have been no other changes in directors’interests in ordinary shares since 1 March 2003.
No director had an interest at any time during the year in the secured or unsecured loan stock or the loan notes of the company,
or in the shares or loan stock of any subsidiary company.

Performance graphs
The graphs below show the percentage change in TSR (with dividends reinvested) of a holding of the company’s shares
against the corresponding change in a hypothetical holding of shares in the FTSE Leisure & Hotels sector index, for each
of the last five financial years ending 1 March 2003 and for the period October 2000 (being the date of the decision to
demerge Pubs & Bars) to March 2003 respectively.
The FTSE Leisure & Hotels sector index has been chosen because from March 2003 it has been the comparator group for the
measurement of the performance of the long term incentive plan and it is deemed to represent an appropriate market
index in which the company is a constituent member.

Historical TSR Performance
Growth in the value of a hypothetical £100 holding since
October 2000 FTSE Leisure & Hotels sector comparison based on
30 trading day average values

On behalf of the board

C M Gurassa
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee
29 April 2003
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Historical TSR Performance
Growth in the value of a hypothetical £100 holding over five years
FTSE Leisure & Hotels sector comparison based on 30 trading day
average values

Directors responsibility for the financial statement / Audit report

Statement of directors’responsibilities
The following statement,which should be read in conjunction
with the auditors’statement of their responsibilities below,
is made with a view to distinguishing for shareholders the
respective responsibilities of the directors and of the auditors
in relation to the financial statements.
The directors are required by the Companies Act 1985
to prepare financial statements for each financial year
which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the
company and the group as at the end of the financial year
and of the profit or loss for the financial year.
The directors consider that in preparing the financial
statements on pages 42 to 72,the group has used appropriate
accounting policies,consistently applied and supported by
reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates,and that
all applicable Accounting Standards have been followed.
The directors have responsibility for ensuring that the
group keeps accounting records which disclose with
reasonable accuracy the financial position of the group and
which enable them to ensure that the financial statements
comply with the Companies Act 1985.
The directors have general responsibility for taking such steps
as are reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets of the
group and to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.

Independent auditors’report to the members
of Whitbread PLC
We have audited the group’s financial statements for the
year ended 1 March 2003 which comprise the Accounting
policies,Group profit and loss account,Group statement
of total recognised gains and losses,Group note of historical
cost profits and losses,Balance sheets,Group cash flow
statement and the related notes 1 to 36.These financial
statements have been prepared on the basis of the
accounting policies set out therein.We have also audited
the information in the Remuneration report that is
described as having been audited.
This report is made solely to the company’s members,as a
body,in accordance with Section 251 of the Companies Act
1985.To the fullest extent permitted by law,we do not accept
or assume responsibility to anyone other than the company
and the company’s members as a body,for our audit work,
for this report,or for the opinions we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of directors
and auditors
The directors’responsibilities for preparing the Annual
Report,the Remuneration report and the financial
statements in accordance with applicable United Kingdom
law and accounting standards are set out in the Statement
of Directors’Responsibilities.
Our responsibility is to audit the financial statements
and the part of the Remuneration report to be audited
in accordance with relevant legal and regulatory
requirements,United Kingdom Auditing Standards and
the Listing Rules of the Financial Services Authority.
We report to you our opinion as to whether the financial
statements give a true and fair view and whether the
financial statements and the part of the Remuneration
report to be audited have been properly prepared in
accordance with the Companies Act 1985.

We also report to you if,in our opinion,the Directors’report
is not consistent with the financial statements,if the company
has not kept proper accounting records,if we have not received
all the information and explanations we require for our audit,
or if information specified by law or the Listing Rules regarding
directors’remuneration and transactions with the group
is not disclosed.
We review whether the Corporate Governance Statement
reflects the company’s compliance with the seven provisions
of the Combined Code specified for our review by the Listing
Rules,and we report if it does not.We are not required to
consider whether the board’s statements on internal control
cover all risks and controls,or form an opinion on the
effectiveness of the group’s corporate governance procedures
or its risk and control procedures.
We read other information contained in the Annual Report
and consider whether it is consistent with the audited
financial statements.This other information comprises
the chairman’s statement,chief executive’s review,finance
director’s review,operational review,unaudited part of the
Remuneration report and the Directors’report.We consider
the implications for our report if we become aware of any
apparent misstatements or material inconsistencies with
the financial statements.Our responsibilities do not extend
to any other information.

Basis of audit opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with United Kingdom
Auditing Standards issued by the Auditing Practices Board.
An audit includes examination,on a test basis,of evidence
relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements and the part of the Remuneration report to
be audited.It also includes an assessment of the significant
estimates and judgements made by the directors in the
preparation of the financial statements,and of whether
the accounting policies are appropriate to the group’s
circumstances,consistently applied and adequately disclosed.
We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all
the information and explanations which we considered
necessary in order to provide us with sufficient evidence
to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements
and the part of the Remuneration report to be audited are
free from material misstatement,whether caused by fraud
or other irregularity or error.In forming our opinion we also
evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of
information in the financial statements and the part of the
Remuneration report to be audited.

Opinion
In our opinion:
– the financial statements give a true and fair view of the
state of affairs of the company and of the group as at
1 March 2003 and of the profit of the group for the year
then ended; and
– the financial statements and the part of the
Remuneration report to be audited have been properly
prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985.

Ernst & Young LLP
Registered Auditor
London
29 April 2003

page 41

Accounting policies

A.Accounting convention

Vehicles are depreciated over 4 to 10 years.

The accounts are prepared under the historical cost
convention,as modified by the revaluation of property,
and in accordance with applicable Accounting Standards.

The carrying values of tangible fixed assets are reviewed
for impairment if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that their carrying value may not be recoverable.
Any impairment in the value of fixed assets below
depreciated historical cost is charged to the profit and
loss account.Profits and losses on disposal of fixed assets
reflect the difference between net selling price and net
book value at the date of disposal.

B.Basis of consolidation
The consolidated accounts incorporate the accounts
of the company and all group undertakings, together
with the group’s share of the net assets and results of
joint ventures and associates.These are adjusted,where
appropriate, to conform to group accounting policies.
Apart from the acquisition in 2000/1 of Whitbread Group
PLC by Whitbread PLC,which was accounted for using
merger accounting,acquisitions are accounted for under
the acquisition method and any goodwill arising is
capitalised as an intangible fixed asset.On disposal
of a business, the profit or loss on disposal is calculated
after including any goodwill previously written off direct
to reserves in respect of that business.The results
of companies acquired or disposed of are included in
the profit and loss account from or up to the date that
control passes respectively.As a consolidated profit
and loss account is published,a separate profit and
loss account of the parent company is omitted from
the group accounts by virtue of the exemption granted
by section 230 of the Companies Act 1985.

C.Intangible fixed assets
Goodwill arising on acquisitions is capitalised.It is
amortised,on a straight line basis,over its estimated
useful economic life up to a maximum of 20 years.
Goodwill written off against reserves in previous years
has not been reinstated.

D.Tangible fixed assets
Prior to the adoption of FRS 15 in the 1999/2000 financial
year,properties were regularly revalued on a cyclical
basis.Since the adoption of FRS 15, the group policy has
been not to revalue its properties.Consequently the
transitional provisions of FRS 15 have been applied and,
while previous valuations have been retained, they have
not been updated.Details of the last revaluations are
given in note 14.Other fixed assets are stated at cost.
Gross interest costs incurred on the financing of major
projects are capitalised until the time that they are
available for use.
Depreciable fixed assets are written off on a straight line
basis over their estimated useful lives,as follows:
Freehold land is not depreciated.
Freehold buildings are depreciated to their estimated
residual values over periods up to 50 years.
Leasehold properties are depreciated to their estimated
residual values over the shortest of 50 years, their
estimated useful lives and their remaining lease periods.
Administration and logistics furniture,fixtures and
equipment are depreciated over 3 to 30 years.
Retail furniture,fixtures and equipment are depreciated
over 4 to 25 years.
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E.Stocks
Stocks are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value.The cost of finished goods includes appropriate
overheads.Cost is calculated on the basis of first in,first
out and net realisable value is the estimated selling price
less any costs of disposal.

F.Foreign exchange
Assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated into sterling at the rates of exchange
quoted at the balance sheet date.Trading results are
translated into sterling at average rates of exchange for
the year.Day to day transactions are recorded in sterling
at the rates ruling on the date of those transactions.
Currency gains and losses arising from the retranslation
of the opening net assets of overseas operations,less
those arising from related currency borrowings to the
extent that they are matched,are recorded as a
movement on reserves,net of tax.The differences which
arise from translating the results of overseas businesses
at average rates of exchange,and their assets and
liabilities at closing rates,are also dealt with in reserves.
All other currency gains and losses are dealt with in the
profit and loss account.

G.Financial instruments
Derivative financial instruments are used by the group
for the management of foreign currency and interest
rate exposures.Amounts payable or receivable in respect
of interest rate swap and interest rate cap agreements
are recognised as adjustments to the interest expense
over the period of the contracts.Gains or losses on
foreign currency forward and option contracts are
recognised in the profit and loss account when the hedged
transaction occurs.In the balance sheet,payments made
to secure a hedge are included with the hedged item to
which they relate.
Option premiums paid are recognised in the profit and
loss account over the life of the contract.Premiums and
discounts arising on financial liabilities are amortised
over the remaining life of the instrument concerned.

H.Turnover
Turnover is the value of goods and services sold to third
parties as part of the group’s trading activities,after
deducting discounts and sales-based taxes.

I.Research and development
Research and development expenditure is charged
against operating profit in the year in which it is incurred.

Accounting policies

J.Leases
Rental payments in respect of operating leases are
charged against operating profit on a straight line basis
over the period of the lease.Lease incentives are charged
to operating profit on a straight line basis over the period
to the review date on which the rent is first expected to
be adjusted to the prevailing market rate.

K.Pension funding
Pension costs are charged to the profit and loss account
in accordance with SSAP 24.Actuarial surpluses or
deficits are amortised over the expected remaining
service lives of current employees.Differences between
the amount charged in the profit and loss account and
payments made to the schemes are treated as assets or
liabilities in the balance sheet.

L.Tax
Deferred tax is recognised in respect of all timing
differences that have originated but not been reversed
by the balance sheet date.Deferred tax is not recognised
when an asset is sold if it is more likely than not that the
taxable gain will be rolled over.Deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that they are regarded as
recoverable.Provisions for deferred tax are not
discounted.Deferred tax assets and liabilities are
calculated using the tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.

M.Comparative amounts
Comparative amounts are restated where necessary
to conform to current presentation.
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Group profit and loss account Year ended 1 March 2003

2002/3

Notes

Turnover
Group and share of joint ventures
Less share of joint ventures’ turnover
Continuing operations
Discontinued operations

Before
exceptional
items
£m

Exceptional
items
(note 4)
£m

2001/2

Total
£m

Before
exceptional
items
£m

Exceptional
items
(note 4)
£m

Total
£m

1,965.1
(171.0)

.–
.–

1,965.1
(171.0)

2,171.6
(157.3)

.–
.–

2,171.6
(157.3)

1,794.1
.–

.–
.–

1,794.1
.–

1,888.4
125.9

.–
.–

1,888.4
125.9

Group turnover
Net operating expenses

2
3

1,794.1
(1,552.0)

.–
(5.0)

1,794.1
(1,557.0)

2,014.3
(1,763.4)

.–
(174.5)

2,014.3
(1,937.9)

Group operating profit
Share of operating profit in:
Joint ventures
Associates

3

242.1

(5.0)

237.1

250.9

(174.5)

76.4

Continuing operations
Discontinued operations
Operating profit of the group, joint ventures
and associates

2

15.1
17.8

.–
.–

15.1
17.8

12.2
16.9

.–
.–

12.2
16.9

275.0
.–

(5.0)
.–

270.0
.–

249.5
30.5

(174.5)
.–

75.0
30.5

275.0

(5.0)

270.0

280.0

(174.5)

105.5

.–
.–
.–
.–
.–

0.8
0.5
0.3
(7.8)
.–

0.8
0.5
0.3
(7.8)
.–

.–
.–
.–
.–
.–

(2.0)
.–
(0.2)
(3.9)
(25.0)

(2.0)
.–
(0.2)
(3.9)
(25.0)

Non-operating items – continuing operations
Net profit/(loss) on disposal of fixed assets:
Group excluding joint ventures and associates
Joint ventures
Associates
Net loss on the disposal of businesses
Fundamental restructuring costs

29

Profit/(loss) before interest
Interest

8

275.0
(61.0)

(11.2)
.–

263.8
(61.0)

280.0
(66.6)

(205.6)
(0.8)

74.4
(67.4)

Profit/(loss) before tax
Tax

9

214.0
(66.4)

(11.2)
16.4

202.8
(50.0)

213.4
(63.5)

(206.4)
4.1

7.0
(59.4)

147.6
(0.2)
(0.2)

5.2
.–
.–

152.8
(0.2)
(0.2)

149.9
.–
(0.2)

(202.3)
.–
.–

(52.4)
.–
(0.2)

Profit/(loss) after tax
Equity minority interests
Non-equity minority interests
Profit/(loss) earned for ordinary shareholders
Ordinary dividends

10
11

147.2
(58.7)

5.2
.–

152.4
(58.7)

149.7
(52.6)

(202.3)
.–

(52.6)
(52.6)

Retained profit/(loss) for the year

26

88.5

5.2

93.7

97.1

(202.3)

(105.2)

Earnings per share (pence)
Basic
Adjusted basic
Diluted
Adjusted diluted

12
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51.77
52.85

(15.91)
47.85

51.59
52.67

(15.91)
47.68

Group statement of total recognised gains and losses Year ended 1 March 2003

2002/3
£m

2001/2
£m

Profit/(loss) earned for ordinary shareholders
Group excluding joint ventures and associates
Joint ventures
Associates

139.4
6.6
6.4

(71.0)
7.4
11.0

Group including joint ventures and associates
Currency translation differences on net foreign investment

152.4
0.2

(52.6)
(1.5)

Total gains and losses recognised since previous year end

152.6

(54.1)

2002/3
£m

2001/2
£m

202.8

7.0

Group note of historical cost profits and losses Year ended 1 March 2003

Reported profit before tax
Realisation of revaluation gains/(deficits)

4.1

(1.9)

Difference between the historical cost depreciation charge and the
actual depreciation charge calculated on the revalued amount

1.0

1.4

207.9

6.5

Historical cost profit before tax
Historical cost profit/(loss) for the year retained after tax, minority interests and dividends

98.8

(105.7)
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Balance sheets 1 March 2003

Group

Fixed assets
Intangible assets
Tangible assets
Investments:
In subsidiaries
In joint ventures:
Share of joint ventures’ gross assets
Share of joint ventures’ gross liabilities
Loans to joint ventures
In associates
Other investments

Company

Notes

2003
£m

2002
£m

2003
£m

2002
£m

13
14

141.5
3,045.1

149.9
2,996.1

.–
.–

.–
.–

15
16

.–

.–

1,793.0

1,633.8

78.1
(37.7)
1.8
42.2
56.7
7.0

70.9
(3 7.5)
5.9
39.3
63.6
6.9

.–
.–
.–
.–
.–
.–

.–
.–
.–
.–
.–
.–

3,292.5

3,255.8

1,793.0

1,633.8

23.9
131.1
75.4

28.1
112.0
73.1

.–
.–
.–

.–
0.3
22.1

230.4
(474.4)

213.2
(431.8)

.–
(43.1)

22.4
(49.6)

(244.0)

(218.6)

(43.1)

(27.2)

1,749.9

1,606.6

17
18

Current assets and liabilities
Stocks
Debtors
Cash at bank and in hand

19
20

Creditors – amounts falling due within one year

21

Net current liabilities
Total assets less current liabilities

3,048.5

3,037.2

Creditors – amounts falling due after more than one year
Loan capital

22

(879.8)

(978.5)

.–

.–

Provisions for liabilities and charges

24

(178.1)

(170.2)

(5.0)

(5.0)

1,990.6

1,888.5

1,744.9

1,601.6

Capital and reserves
Called up share capital
Share premium account
Revaluation reserve
Other reserves
Profit and loss account

25
25
26
26
26

148.0
7.3
134.5
(1,815.8)
3,509.9

147.7
4.4
140.4
(1,815.5)
3,405.0

148.0
7.3
.–
.–
1,589.6

147.7
4.4
.–
.–
1,449.5

Shareholders’ funds

27

1,983.9

1,882.0

1,744.9

1,601.6

3.6
3.1

3.4
3.1

.–
.–

.–
.–

1,990.6

1,888.5

1,744.9

1,601.6

Equity minority interests
Non-equity minority interests

D M Thomas
Director
D H Richardson
Director
29 April 2003
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Group cash flow statement Year ended 1 March 2003

2002/3
Notes

Cash flow from operating activities

£m

28

Dividends received from joint ventures and associates
Returns on investments and servicing of finance
Interest received
Interest paid
Debt issue costs
Loan interest received

2001/2
£m

£m

£m

355.2

352.1

13.3

2.8

1.2
(64.0)
(0.6)
.–

1.8
(75.0)
.–
1.3

Net cash outflow from returns on investments and
servicing of finance

(63.4)

(71.9)

Tax
UK Corporation Tax paid

(49.6)

(83.4)

Capital expenditure and financial investment
Property and plant purchased
Investments purchased and loans advanced
Property and plant sold
Investments sold and loans realised

(218.3)
(0.9)
29.4
4.1

Net cash outflow from capital expenditure and
financial investment
Acquisitions and disposals
Businesses sold and demerged

(286.8)
(9.9)
64.4
8.0
(185.7)

29

23.1

(224.3)

461.6

Net cash inflow from acquisitions and disposals

23.1

461.6

Equity dividends paid

(53.9)

(128.1)

Net cash inflow before use of liquid resources and financing

39.0

308.8

3.9

0.2

Management of liquid resources
Net movement on short term securities and bank deposits
Financing
Minority dividends
Issue of shares
Net movement on short term bank borrowings
Loan capital issued
Loan capital repaid *

30,31

30,31
30,31
30,31

(0.2)
1.3
(3.3)
78.3
(109.3)

Net cash outflow from financing
Increase in cash

(0.2)
6.3
(16.0)
5.0
(303.5)
(33.2)

30,31

9.7

(308.4)
0.6

* The net of receipts and payments on revolving credits is included in loan capital repaid.
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1 Changes to accounting policies
Although the second stage of the FRS 17 (Retirement Benefits) transitional arrangements has been adopted in the current year
there have been no changes to the reported figures which continue to be prepared on the basis of SSAP 24. The disclosures
required under this stage of the transitional arrangements are included in note 7 to the accounts.

2 Segmental analysis of turnover, profit and net assets
Year ended 1 March 2003
By business segment
Hotels – Marriott/Swallow
– Travel Inn
Restaurants – Pub Restaurants
– High Street Restaurants – retained
– High Street Restaurants – disposed of
Sports, Health and Fitness
Beer and Other Drinks
Inter-segment turnover (see note below)
Share of joint ventures’ turnover
Central Costs
Exceptional items (note 4)

By geographical segment
United Kingdom
Rest of the world
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#

Operating
profit
£m

Turnover
£m

EBITDA
£m

391.9
204.3
596.2

113.1
83.9
197.0

71.6†
66.7
138.3

1,225.2
529.4
1,754.6

582.9
418.0
23.3
1,024.2
183.0

106.4
36.8
1.4
144.6
63.2

76.6
21.4
0.7
98.7
†
43.3

771.0
111.9
.–
882.9
476.5

1,803.4
65.9
(2.5)
(171.0)
98.3

404.8
16.6

280.3
16.6

3,114.0
49.0

1,794.1

396.0

270.0

2,931.2

1,723.7
70.4

388.5
7.5

266.1
3.9

2,888.9
42.3

1,794.1

396.0

270.0

2,931.2

(20.4)
(5.0)

(21.9)
(5.0)

Net assets
£m

(231.8)

Notes to the accounts

2 Segmental analysis of turnover, profit and net assets (continued)
#

Operating
profit
£m

Turnover
£m

EBITDA
£m

Sports, Health and Fitness

404.5
177.3
581.8
576.1
397.0
101.3
1,074.4
165.6

112.2
75.3
187.5
99.4
29.4
4.6
133.4
53.6

71.6†
60.2
131.8
69.6
17.1
(0.2)
86.5
†
34.4

1,234.2
481.7
1,715.9
769.8
112.5
18.8
901.1
453.5

Beer and Other Drinks
Inter-segment turnover (see note below)
Share of joint ventures’ turnover
Central Costs

1,821.8
78.3
(2.9)
(157.3)
148.5

374.5
15.8

252.7
15.8

3,070.5
56.5

(16.1)

(19.0)

(262.5)

1,888.4
125.9

374.2
36.0
(174.5)

249.5
30.5
(174.5)

2,864.5
.–

2,014.3

235.7

105.5

2,864.5

1,942.6
71.7

228.4
7.3

101.9
3.6

2,828.0
36.5

2,014.3

235.7

105.5

2,864.5

2002/3
£m

2001/2
£m

8.0
0.4

8.1
0.4

Year ended 2 March 2002 (restated)
By business segment
Hotels – Marriott/Swallow
– Travel Inn
Restaurants – Pub Restaurants
– High Street Restaurants – retained
– High Street Restaurants – disposed of

Pubs & Bars
Exceptional items (note 4)

By geographical segment
United Kingdom
Rest of the world

#

†

Net assets
£m

EBITDA is earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation.
Operating profit is stated after charging the amortisation of goodwill as follows:

Hotels – Marriott/Swallow
Sports, Health and Fitness

The figures for the year ended 2 March 2002 have been restated to reflect the transfer of the supply chain function from
Central Costs to Restaurants. The effect is not material.
Following the sale of the Whitbread Beer Company there remained a continuing activity within the Beer segment. This was
as a result of the terms of the sale of the Whitbread Beer Company to Interbrew which included arrangements for Whitbread
to retain the people and the necessary production capacity to ensure compliance with its obligations for the remaining
period of the Heineken and Murphy licences. This arrangement and the licenses ceased on 15 April 2003.
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2 Segmental analysis of turnover, profit and net assets (continued)
Segmental turnover includes the group’s share of joint venture turnover as follows:

Hotels – Marriott/Swallow
– Travel Inn
High Street Restaurants

2002/3
£m

2001/2
£m

.–
2.8
168.2

0.8
1.6
154.9

171.0

157.3

Inter-segment turnover was from High Street Restaurants to the other segments. Central Costs turnover comprises,
primarily, food distribution services provided to a third party and a joint venture. The geographical analysis of turnover
and profit is by source. The analysis of turnover by destination was not materially different. Sales between geographical
segments are not material.
Net assets included above are total net assets excluding net debt.
The analysis of exceptional items, which are included in operating profit, is as follows:

High Street Restaurants
Sports, Health and Fitness

2002/3
£m

2001/2
£m

.–
5.0

174.5
.–

5.0

174.5

3 Profit and loss account details
2002/3
Turnover
Cost of sales

Continuing
£m

Total
Disbefore
continued exceptionals
£m
£m

Operating
Total
exceptional
after
items exceptionals
£m
£m

1,794.1
(1,353.1)

.–
.–

1,794.1
(1,353.1)

Gross profit
Distribution to customers
Administration and other costs

441.0
(9.5)
(189.4)

.–
.–
.–

441.0
(9.5)
(189.4)

.–
.–
(5.0)

441.0
(9.5)
(194.4)

Group operating profit

242.1

.–

242.1

(5.0)

237.1

.–
.–

2,014.3
(1,548.0)

2001/2
Turnover
Cost of sales

.–
.–

1,794.1
(1,353.1)

1,888.4
(1,459.2)

125.9
(88.8)

2,014.3
(1,548.0)

Gross profit
Distribution to customers
Administration and other costs

429.2
(10.3)
(198.5)

37.1
.–
(6.6)

466.3
(10.3)
(205.1)

.–
.–
(174.5)

466.3
(10.3)
(379.6)

Group operating profit

220.4

30.5

250.9

(174.5)

76.4

2002/3
£m

2001/2
£m

8.4
117.6

8.5
121.7

5.5
52.6
0.6
530.3

6.4
60.9
0.6
588.5

Included above are:
Amortisation of intangible fixed assets (note 13)
Depreciation of tangible fixed assets (note 14)
Operating lease rentals:
Hire of plant and machinery
Property and other operating leases
Audit fees
Staff costs (note 6)

Fees paid to Ernst & Young LLP for non-audit services in the UK, primarily in respect of corporate finance services, amounted
to £0.3m (2001/2 – £1.0m).
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4 Exceptional items
2002/3
£m

2001/2
£m

Operating items
Restructuring costs
Onerous contract on non-trading leasehold property
Impairment of leasehold properties
Impairment of goodwill

.–
(5.0)
.–
.–

(1.7)
.–
(26.3)
(146.5)

Charged against operating profit

(5.0)

(174.5)

0.8
0.5
0.3
(7.8)

(2.0)
.–
(0.2)
(3.9)

.–
.–

(14.6)
(10.4)

(11.2)

(205.6)

Non-operating items
Net profit/(loss) on disposal of fixed assets:
Group excluding joint ventures and associates
Joint ventures
Associates
Net loss on the disposal of businesses (note 29)
Fundamental reorganisation costs:
Demerger of Pubs & Bars – transaction costs
Reorganisation costs

The £5.0m onerous contract provision relates to a site which is not being developed.
The restructuring costs in 2001/2 related to the planned disposal of the Pelican High Street Restaurants business.
The 2001/2 impairment of leasehold properties related to leasehold properties operated by Pelican.The impairment of goodwill in
that year related to the goodwill created, and previously written off to reserves, on the acquisition of the Pelican and BrightReasons
businesses. An equivalent amount was added to reserves (see note 27).
The transaction costs were principally advisers’fees and legal costs relating to the discontinued Pubs & Bars business.
The fundamental reorganisation costs related to the demerger of Pubs & Bars in May 2001.

5 Directors’ emoluments
Details of directors’ emoluments are disclosed in the Remuneration report on pages 32 to 40.

6 Staff costs and numbers
Wages and salaries
Social security costs
Pension costs (note 7)

2002/3
£m

2001/2
£m

485.8
33.5
11.0

529.2
42.8
16.5

530.3

588.5
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6 Staff costs and numbers (continued)
The average number of persons directly employed in the various sectors of the business was as follows:
2002/3

2001/2

Sports, Health and Fitness

11,547
5,902
17,449
23,402
8,081
782
32,265
5,105

11,938
4,314
16,252
24,538
8,193
3,658
36,389
5,025

Beer and Other Drinks
Central Costs

54,819
429
67

57,666
437
64

Pubs & Bars

55,315
–

58,167
3,303

55,315

61,470

Hotels – Marriott/Swallow
– Travel Inn
Restaurants – Pub Restaurants
– High Street Restaurants – retained
– High Street Restaurants – disposed of

Excluded from the above are employees of joint ventures and associated undertakings.

7 Pensions
The defined benefit (final salary) section of the principal group pension scheme, the Whitbread Group Pension Fund, which
was available to eligible UK full-time and part-time employees, was closed to new members on 31 December 2001. There was
also a defined contribution scheme available to employees which was also closed to new members on 31 December 2001. Both
schemes are funded and contributions by both employees and group companies are held in externally invested trusteeadministered funds. Members of these schemes are contracted out of the State Earnings Related Pension Scheme. A
replacement, contracted-in, defined contribution arrangement was established as a section of the Whitbread Group Pension
Fund with effect from 1 April 2002. The total non-government pension cost for the group, including directors, is analysed below:

Funded schemes
Unfunded scheme
Overseas schemes

2002/3
£m

2001/2
£m

10.5
0.5
.–

16.0
0.4
0.1

11.0

16.5

The pension cost relating to the defined benefit section of the Whitbread Group Pension Fund is assessed in accordance with
actuarial advice from Hewitt,Bacon & Woodrow,using the projected unit credit valuation basis.As the scheme is now closed to new
members the current service cost,under the projected unit credit valuation basis,will increase as a percentage of salary as members
of the scheme approach retirement although the overall cost will decrease as the number of members decreases.
The pension cost for the year has been based on the latest actuarial valuation which was carried out as at 31 March 2002.The
assumptions were derived from market yields.Separate assumptions were made for the discount rate used to value liabilities and
the return expected on the assets.The value of the assets was calculated as an average of the market values over the past three
years.For the 1999 valuation, the assumptions reflected the actuaries' expectations for the long term rather than conditions at
the valuation date.The rate used to discount the liabilities was the same as the assumed investment return.The value placed on
the assets was equal to the discounted value of expected future investment income.The change in valuation approach has not
significantly affected the total pension cost charged for 2002/3.
The main valuation assumptions were that the return on investments would be 4.9% per annum above inflation, that the
discount rate would be 3.4% per annum above inflation until retirement and 2.9% per annum above inflation thereafter, that the
annual increase in pensionable salaries (including promotional increases) would be 2.0% above inflation and that the annual
increase in pensions in payment would average 0.1% per annum below inflation.For 2002/3, the regular cost was derived as the
service cost (calculated using the real discount rates set out above) less an adjustment reflecting the excess of the expected return
on the assets over interest on the liabilities.The average expected remaining service life of current employees is eight years.
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7 Pensions (continued)
Since the valuation date, the value of the assets of the Fund has fallen in line with investment markets generally.If the value
of investments does not recover, the pension cost is likely to rise following the next valuation of the Fund due as at 31 March 2005.
Membership of the fund at 1 March 2003 was 6,079 (2002 – 8,114).
The pension prepayment included in debtors (note 20) represents funding paid to the Whitbread Group Pension Fund
in excess of the pension cost, plus interest thereon.
The board announced in April 2003 that the company had signed an agreement with Whitbread Pension Trustees Limited.
Under that agreement, the company has undertaken to fund the pension scheme for a period of up to 15 years and given
undertakings to the trustees similar to some of the covenants provided in respect of its banking agreements. As a consequence
of this agreement, payments will be made into the fund for each of the next three years at a rate of £15m above the anticipated
SSAP 24 charge. There will be no change to the profit and loss account as a consequence of this agreement for each of the
three financial years until the triennial valuation in March 2005.
Financial Reporting Standard 17 – Retirement Benefits will change fundamentally the calculation and reporting of the cost
of retirement benefits. The disclosures below relate to the retirement benefit plans in the UK.
The principal assumptions used by the independent qualified actuaries in updating the most recent valuations of the UK
schemes to 1 March 2003 for FRS 17 purposes were:

At
At
1 March 2003 2 March 2002

Rate of increase in salaries
Rate of increase in pensions in payment & deferred pensions
Discount rate
Inflation assumption
The assets in the scheme and the expected rate of return were:

Equities
Government bonds
Corporate bonds
Property
Cash
Total market value of assets
Present value of scheme liabilities

4.0%
2.5%
5.6%
2.5%

4.0%
2.5%
5.9%
2.5%

Long-term
Long-term
rate of
rate of
return
return
expected at
Value at expected at
Value at
1 March 2003 1 March 2003 2 March 2002 2 March 2002
£m
£m

7.40%
4.40%
5.10%
.–
3.75%

564.0
122.0
113.0
.–
13.0

7.50%
5.00%
5.90%
7.50%
4.00%

835.0
74.0
79.0
7.0
48.0

812.0
(1,232.0)

1,043.0
(1,127.0)

Deficit in scheme
Related deferred tax asset

(420.0)
126.0

(84.0)
25.2

Net pension liability

(294.0)

(58.8)

If FRS 17 had been adopted in the financial statements, the Group’s net assets and profit and loss reserve at 1 March 2003
would have been as follows:
2003
£m

Net assets excluding SSAP 24 pension asset/(liability)
FRS 17 pension liability

Profit and loss reserve excluding SSAP 24 pension asset/(liability)
FRS 17 pension reserve

2002
£m

1,958.9
(294.0)

1,872.4
(58.8)

1,664.9

1,813.6

3,478.2
(294.0)

3,757.2
(58.8)

3,184.2

3,698.4
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7 Pensions (continued)
Analysis of the amount that would have been charged to the profit and loss account:

2002/3
£m

Analysis of the amount that would have been charged to operating profit:
Current service cost
Past service cost

13.0
0.5

Total charge

13.5

Analysis of the amount that would have been credited to other finance income:
Expected return on pension scheme assets
Interest on pension scheme liabilities

72.0
(65.5)

Net return

6.5

Net charge to the profit and loss account

7.0

Analysis of the amount that would have been recognised in the statement of total recognised gains and losses (STRGL):

2002/3
£m

Actual return less expected return on pension scheme assets
Experience gains and losses arising on the scheme liabilities
Changes in assumptions underlying the present value of the scheme liabilities

(267.5)
(1.0)
(85.5)

Actuarial loss recognised in the STRGL

(354.0)

Analysis of the movement in scheme deficit during the year:

2002/3
£m

Deficit in the scheme at 2 March 2002
Movement in the year:
Current service cost
Contributions paid
Past service costs
Other finance income
Actuarial gains/(losses)

(13.0)
25.0
(0.5)
6.5
(354.0)

Deficit in the scheme at 1 March 2003

(420.0)

History of experience gains and losses:
Difference between the expected and actual return on scheme assets
Value (£m)
Percentage of scheme assets

(84.0)

2002/3

267.5
33%

Experience gains and losses on scheme liabilities
Value (£m)
Percentage of the present value of the scheme liabilities

1.0
0%

Total amount recognised in the STRGL
Value (£m)
Percentage of the present value of the scheme liabilities

354.0
29%

page 54 Whitbread PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2002/3

Notes to the accounts

8 Interest
2002/3
£m

2001/2
£m

17.7
45.3

26.7
44.7

63.0

71.4

(0.8)
(0.4)
(3.7)

(1.8)
(1.3)
(3.3)

58.1

65.0

0.7
0.6

0.9
0.7

Exceptional interest payable*

59.4
.–

66.6
0.8

Net interest payable
Interest from unwinding discounts on provisions

59.4
1.6

67.4
.–

61.0

67.4

Interest payable and similar charges:
Bank loans and overdrafts
Other
Deduct:
Interest receivable on short term deposits
Interest receivable from joint ventures and associates
Interest capitalised
Interest payable by:
Joint ventures
Associates

* The exceptional interest payable represents refinancing costs associated with the demerger of the Pubs & Bars business.
9 Tax
2002/3
£m

2001/2
£m

Current tax on profits for the year before exceptional items
UK Corporation Tax
Adjustments to UK Corporation Tax for earlier periods

46.5
(11.3)

47.8
(4.0)

Overseas tax
Adjustments to overseas tax for earlier periods

35.2
0.7
0.1

43.8
(0.2)
(0.1)

4.8
6.1

3.8
5.0

Current tax on exceptional items
Exceptional current UK tax adjustment#

46.9
.–
(16.4)

52.3
(4.1)
.–

Total current tax

30.5

48.2

Deferred tax on profit before exceptional items
Timing differences – Group
– Joint ventures
– Associates

11.0
3.5
5.0

11.1
0.1
.–

Total deferred tax

19.5

11.2

Total tax charge

50.0

59.4

Joint ventures
Associates

#

The exceptional current tax adjustment arises from the release of specific provisions from earlier years.
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9 Tax (continued)
Factors affecting the current tax charge for the period:

Profit before tax

2002/3
£m

2001/2
£m

202.8

7.0

60.8

2.1

.–

51.8

Tax at current UK Corporation Tax rate of 30% (2002 – 30%)
Effect of:
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes:
Impairments
Other (principally goodwill amortisation and depreciation
of assets not qualifying for capital allowances)
Business disposals and tax thereon
Capital allowances in excess of depreciation
Other timing differences
Higher rates on profits of joint ventures and associates
Use of losses not previously recognised
Adjustments to tax charge in respect of previous years

8.2
3.4
(9.7)
(4.8)
1.4
(1.1)
(27.7)

12.5
1.0
(12.8)
(1.2)
0.5
(1.6)
(4.1)

Total current tax charge

30.5

48.2

Factors that may affect the future tax charge
The key factors which may affect the future tax charge include the availability of capital allowances in excess of depreciation
on assets qualifying for capital allowances and the utilisation of unrecognised losses.

10 Profit earned for ordinary shareholders
The profit and loss account of the parent company is omitted from the group accounts by virtue of the exemption granted
by section 230 of the Companies Act 1985. The profit earned for ordinary shareholders and included in the accounts of the
parent company amounted to £198.8m.

11 Ordinary dividends
Interim
Proposed final

2002/3
£m

2001/2
£m

5.57 pence per share (2001/2 –
14.30 pence per share (2001/2 –

5.05 pence)
12.75 pence)

16.5
42.2

14.9
37.7

19.87 pence per share (2001/2 –

17.80 pence)

58.7

52.6

12 Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing earnings for ordinary shareholders of £152.4m (2001/2 – £(52.6)m) by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year of 294.4m (2001/2 – 330.6m).
Adjusted basic earnings per share is calculated as follows:
Earnings (£m)

2002/3

Earnings and basic earnings per share
Earnings and basic earnings per share attributable to:
Goodwill amortisation
Exceptional costs, net of tax

152.4
8.4
(5.2)

Adjusted earnings and basic earnings per share

155.6

2001/2

(52.6)

Earnings per share (p)
2002/3

2001/2

51.77

(15.91)

8.5
202.3

2.85
(1.77)

2.57
61.19

158.2

52.85

47.85

Earnings includes a number of exceptional items. In order to demonstrate the effect of these, together with the impact
of goodwill amortisation, an adjusted earnings per share figure is also presented. Diluted earnings per share is the basic
and adjusted basic earnings per share after allowing for the dilutive effect of the conversion into ordinary shares of the
weighted average number of options outstanding during the period. The number of shares used for the diluted calculation
is 295.4m (2001/2 – 330.6m) and for the adjusted diluted calculation is 295.4m (2001/2 – 331.8m).
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13 Intangible fixed assets
Goodwill
£m

Whitbread Group
Cost 2 March 2002 and 1 March 2003

168.2

Amortisation 2 March 2002
Amortisation for the period

(18.3)
(8.4)

Amortisation 1 March 2003

(26.7)

Net book amounts 1 March 2003

141.5

Net book amounts 2 March 2002

149.9

All goodwill is being amortised over 20 years, which is its estimated useful economic life.

14 Tangible fixed assets
Administration
and logistics

Retail

Land &
buildings
£m

Furniture,
fixtures &
equipment
£m

Cost or valuation 2 March 2002
Foreign exchange movements
Additions
Interest capitalised
Businesses sold
Reclassified
Disposals

23.7
.–
.–
.–
.–
(0.6)
(4.4)

37.3
.–
11.3
.–
.–
(1.4)
(5.3)

2,436.2
6.8
98.5
3.7
(52.2)
3.7
(20.9)

1,118.4
2.8
113.2
.–
(55.1 )
(1.7)
(19.9)

Cost or valuation 1 March 2003

18.7

41.9

2,475.8

1,157.7

Depreciation 2 March 2002
Foreign exchange movements
Depreciation for the year
Businesses sold
Reclassified
Disposals

( 1.5)
.–
(0.5)
.–
0.2
0.4

(20.5)
.–
(3.5)
.–
(0.4)
4.8

(113.9)
(2.1 )
(19.0)
51.0
(0.2)
1.3

(483.6)
(2.1 )
(94.6)
21.7
0.4
13.1

(619.5)
(4.2)
(117.6)
72.7
.–
19.6

Depreciation 1 March 2003

( 1.4)

(19.6)

(82.9)

(545. 1)

(649.0)

Net book amounts 1 March 2003

17.3

22.3

2,392.9

612.6

3,045.1

Net book amounts 2 March 2002

22.2

16.8

2,322.3

634.8

2,996.1

Whitbread Group

Land &
buildings
£m

Furniture,
fixtures &
equipment
£m

Total
£m

3,615.6
9.6
223.0
3.7
(107.3)
.–
(50.5)
3,694.1

Up to and including 1998/9 it was the group policy to revalue its UK properties, other than leasehold properties with
a remaining term of less than 20 years. In 1999/2000 the group adopted FRS 15 (Tangible Fixed Assets). The transitional
provisions of FRS 15 were applied and, whilst previous valuations have been retained, they have not been updated. From
1999/2000 it has been group policy not to revalue fixed assets. Past revaluations were performed by external valuers.
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14 Tangible fixed assets (continued)
If the revaluations up to 1998/9 had not taken place, the net book amounts of fixed assets would have been:
Administration
and logistics
Land &
buildings
£m

Whitbread Group

Furniture,
fixtures &
equipment
£m

Retail
Land &
buildings
£m

Furniture,
fixtures &
equipment
£m

Total
£m

Cost
Depreciation

18.7
(1.4)

41.9
(19.6)

2,338.7
(80.3)

1,157.7
(545.1)

3,557.0
(646.4)

Net book amounts 1 March 2003

17.3

22.3

2,258.4

612.6

2,910.6

Net book amounts 2 March 2002

22.2

16.8

2,181.9

634.8

2,855.7

Net book amounts of properties

Freehold
£m

Long
leasehold
£m

Short
leasehold
£m

Total
£m

1 March 2003

1,596.5

709.0

104.7

2,410.2

2 March 2002

1,534.5

701.8

108.2

2,344.5

2003
£m

2002
£m

3.2
9.1
83.2
110.9
125.6
153.2
223.8
1,785.5

3.3
4.9
81.1
117.4
132.2
153.6
216.6
1,750.8

2,494.5

2,459.9

33.7

65.7

2003
£m

2002
£m

Shares at cost
2 March 2002
Additions

2,256.1
.–

2,255.7
0.4

1 March 2003
Amounts due to subsidiary undertakings

2,256.1
(463.1)

2,256.1
(622.3)

1,793.0

1,633.8

Cost or valuation of properties
As valued 1992/3
As valued 1993/4
As valued 1994/5
As valued 1995/6
As valued 1996/7
As valued 1997/8
As valued 1998/9
At cost

Capital expenditure commitments for which no provision has been made

15 Investment in subsidiary undertakings

Principal
activity

Country of
incorporation
or registration

Country of
principal
operations

% of equity
and votes
held

Whitbread Group PLC
Restaurants & Hotels
David Lloyd Leisure Ltd
Leisure
Whitbread Hotel Company Ltd (formerly Swallow Group Ltd)
Hotels
Swift Hotels Ltd (formerly Swallow Hotels Ltd)
Hotels
Whitbread Hotels Ltd
Hotels
Whitbread Restaurants Holdings GmbH
Restaurants

England
England
England
England
England
Germany

England
England
England
England
England
Germany

100
100
100
100
100
100

Principal subsidiary undertakings

Shares in Whitbread Group PLC are held directly by Whitbread PLC. Shares in the other subsidiaries, with the exception of
Swift Hotels Ltd, are held by Whitbread Group PLC. Swift Hotels Ltd is a subsidiary of Whitbread Hotel Company Ltd.
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15 Investment in subsidiary undertakings (continued)
All subsidiary undertakings have the same year end as Whitbread PLC. All the above companies have been included in the
group consolidation. The companies listed above are those which materially affect the amount of profit and the assets
of the group. A full list of subsidiary undertakings, joint ventures and associates will be annexed to the next annual return
of Whitbread PLC to be filed with the Registrar of Companies.

16 Unlisted investments in joint ventures
Investments
£m

Loans
£m

Total
£m

Share of net assets 2 March 2002
Businesses acquired
Loans repaid
Share of retained profits less losses

33.4
0.4
.–
6.6

5.9
.–
(4.1)
.–

39.3
0.4
(4.1)
6.6

Share of net assets 1 March 2003

40.4

1.8

42.2

Directors’ valuation
1 March 2003
2 March 2002

93.8
68.7

1.8
5.9

95.6
74.6

Whitbread Group

Principal joint ventures

Pizza Hut (UK) Ltd
Spirit Travel Inn Ltd

Principal Total equity Whitbread
activity par value (a) holding of (a)
£m

Restaurants
Hotels

0.8
6.3

50%
50%

Loans to joint ventures
2003
2002
£m
£m

.–
1.8

4.1
1.8

The above companies are registered in England, which is also the main area of their operations. The investments are held by
Whitbread Group PLC.
Analysis of share of net assets

2003
£m

2002
£m

Tangible fixed assets
Current assets
Liabilities due within one year
Liabilities due after one year

71.8
6.3
(27.8)
(9.9)

64.9
6.0
(33.9)
(3.6)

Net assets

40.4

33.4

Loans
£m

Total
£m

17 Unlisted investments in associates
Whitbread Group

Investments
£m

Share of net assets 2 March 2002
Share of retained profits less losses

56.5
(6.9)

7.1
.–

63.6
(6.9)

Share of net assets 1 March 2003

49.6

7.1

56.7

108.1
99.4

7.1
7.1

115.2
106.5

Directors’ valuation
1 March 2003
2 March 2002
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17 Unlisted investments in associates (continued)
Principal associates

Britannia Soft Drinks Ltd
Poles Ltd
Neptune Whitbread Hotel Ltd
Morrison Street Hotel Ltd

Principal Total equity Whitbread
activity par value (a) holding of (a)
£m

Soft drinks
Hotel
Hotel
Hotel

138.7
3.1
.–
1.7

25%
26%
20%
40%

Loans to associates
2003
2002
£m
£m

.–
4.7
2.4
.–

.–
4.7
2.4
.–

The above companies, except Morrison Street Hotel Ltd, are registered in England, which is also the main area of their
operations. Morrison Street Hotel Ltd is registered in Scotland, which is also the main area of its operations. The investments
are held by Whitbread Group PLC and Whitbread Hotel Company Ltd.

18 Other investments
Listed
£m

Unlisted
£m

Total
£m

Cost or valuation 2 March 2002
Additions

9.6
.–

.–
0.3

9.6
0.3

Cost or valuation 1 March 2003

9.6

0.3

9.9

Amortisation/provisions 2 March 2002
Amortisation (see footnote)

(2.7)
(0.2)

.–
.–

(2.7)
(0.2)

Amortisation/provisions 1 March 2003

(2.9)

.–

(2.9)

Net book amounts 1 March 2003

6.7

0.3

7.0

Net book amounts 2 March 2002

6.9

.–

6.9

Market value or directors’ valuation
1 March 2003
2 March 2002

7.4
8.9

0.3
.–

7.7
8.9

Whitbread Group

Listed investments above are primarily shares in Whitbread PLC, purchased under the terms of the Long Term Incentive Plan
(the “Plan”) and to satisfy outstanding employee share options, held by an employee share ownership trust (“ESOP”), which
is independently managed.
At 1 March 2003 the Plan owned 0.23m shares (2002 – 0.23m shares) in Whitbread PLC, the market value of which was £1.2m
(2002 – £1.4m). The cost of the shares has been amortised over three years, to the earliest date on which the shares could be
transferred to the participants, and charged against operating profit. The market value has not been adjusted to take
account of amortisation. The ESOP has waived its right to dividends on these shares. Administration costs of the Plan are
expensed as incurred. The operation of the Plan is more fully described in the Remuneration report on pages 32 to 40.
At 1 March 2003, 1.18m shares were held to satisfy outstanding employee share options (2002 – 1.18m), with a market value of
£6.2m (2002 – £7.5m). The ESOP has waived its right to dividends on these shares.
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19 Stocks

Raw materials and consumables
Finished goods

Group
2003
£m

Group
2002
£m

0.7
23.2

1.0
27.1

23.9

28.1

The estimated replacement cost of stocks is not materially different from the above carrying values.

20 Debtors

Trade debtors
Joint ventures
Associates
Other debtors
Prepayments and accrued income

Included above are debtors not receivable within one year:
Pension prepayments
Other debtors

Group
2003
£m

Group
2002
£m

Company
2003
£m

Company
2002
£m

36.8
8.3
3.9
17.8
64.3

42.5
6.9
4.0
14.2
44.4

.–
.–
.–
.–
.–

0.1
.–
.–
0.2
.–

131.1

112.0

.–

0.3

35.9
.–

19.8
0.1

35.9

19.9

Group
2003
£m

Group
2002
£m

Company
2003
£m

Company
2002
£m

90.1
46.1
116.3
23.1
35.4
65.1
55.7
42.6

17.5
53.1
116.4
54.4
32.4
61.9
58.4
37.7

.–
.–
.–
.–
.–
.–
0.5
42.6

.–
3.3
0.2
8.4
.–
.–
.–
37.7

474.4

431.8

43.1

49.6

21 Creditors – amounts falling due within one year

Loan capital (note 22)
Bank overdrafts
Trade creditors
Corporation Tax
Other taxes and social security
Accruals and deferred income
Other creditors
Proposed final dividend on ordinary shares
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22 Loan capital
Subsidiary undertakings
Secured:
Redeemable debenture stock (nominal value £200.5m)
Redeemable debenture stock (nominal value £100.0m)
Other loans
Bank loan
Bank loan
Debenture (nominal value £10.0m)
Debenture (nominal value £25.0m)
Debenture (nominal value £80.0m)
Debenture
Unsecured:
Revolving credit facility
Loan notes
Loan notes
Loan notes
Loan notes
Bank loan
Bank loan
Bonds (nominal value £100.0m)
Bank loan
Whitbread Group

Repayment
dates

Interest
rates

2003
£m

2002
£m

2011
2021
2002 to 2008
2002 to 2009
2003 to 2006
2010
2015
2019
Not fixed

11.625%#*
8.125%*
Variable
8.0%
10.0%
11.75%#
9.875%#
10.75%#
Nil

210.0
100.0
6.1
4.6
0.3
12.7
32.3
114.7
0.5

210.7
100.0
6.1
4.4
.–
13.0
32.7
115.9
0.5

2005
2002
2002 to 2003
201 1 to 2013
2003 to 2012
2003
2005
2007
2003

Variable
Variable
Variable
Variable
5.0%
Variable
Variable
8.25%#
Variable

47.9
.–
11.8
2.1
3.0
.–
249.4
99.5
75.0

42.7
0.3
15.2
2.4
.–
179.6
173.1
99.4
.–

969.9

996.0

Debenture stocks and secured loans are secured by fixed and floating charges on certain group tangible fixed assets.
#
The interest rates quoted relate to the nominal values rather than the carrying values.
* The group has entered into agreements which swap the fixed interest rate of £192.4m nominal value (£199.8m including
premium) of the 11.625% debenture stock for variable rates until 2011, and the fixed interest rate of the 8.125% debenture
stock for variable rates until 2021.
Group
2003
£m

Group
2002
£m

Repayable:
In one year or less, or on demand
In more than one year, but not more than two
In more than two years, but not more than five
In more than five years – repayable by instalments
– other

87.5
298.2
106.9
3.6
420.6

16.2
222.9
278.1
3.4
421.6

Total loans
Premiums, issue costs, etc.

916.8
53.1

942.2
53.8

Deduct falling due within one year (note 21)

969.9
(90.1)

996.0
(17.5)

Falling due after more than one year

879.8

978.5

Summarised as follows:

Loan capital includes an amount of £75.0m arising from two offsetting derivative contracts that in substance are a short
term loan. The transaction matures in May 2003.
The total of instalment loans,any part of which falls due after more than five years,amounts to £4.6m (2002 – £4.4m).Included
within amounts repayable between one and two years is £250.0m (2002 – £180.0m and £175.0m between one and two years and
between two and five years respectively) which is repayable in less than one year.These advances were made under credit facility
agreements with original lives of from three to five years.Under the terms of the agreement,the participating banks are obliged,on
demand,to refinance any amounts falling due for repayment until expiry of the facility.
Details of unused committed facilities are disclosed in the finance director’s review. Overdrafts, which are all repayable
within one year, are disclosed in note 21.
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23 Financial instruments
The group’s objectives and policies on the use of financial instruments, including derivatives, can be found in the finance
director’s review. Amounts dealt with in this note exclude short term assets and liabilities except cash, overdrafts and
loan capital repayable in one year or less.
Analysis of interest rate exposure and currency of net debt
Loan capital
Total
£m

Cash
£m

Overdrafts†
£m

Floating
rate§
£m

2003
Sterling
Euro

905.9
34.7

(57.6)
( 17.8)

46.1
.–

Net debt (note 30)

940.6

(75.4)

2002
Sterling
Euro

941.9
34.1

Net debt (note 30)

976.0

Weighted averages re
fixed rate debt ¥

q

Interest
free
£m

Fixed rate
£m

417.1
47.9

0.5
.–

499.8
4.6

46.1

465.0

0.5

504.4

(60.1 )
( 13.0)

53.1
.–

400.7
42.7

0.5
.–

547.7
4.4

(73.1 )

53.1

443.4

0.5

552.1

Analysis of currency and interest rate exposure of financial assets
Total
£m

Interest
rate

Period rate
is fixed for

6.7% 7.5 years
8.0% 6.8 years

6.8% 8.0 years
8.0% 7.8 years

Loans to
joint ventures
and
Cash
associates
£m
£m

2003
Sterling
Euro

66.5
17.8

57.6
17.8

8.9
.–

Financial assets

84.3

75.4

8.9

2002
Sterling
Euro

73.1
13.0

60.1
13.0

13.0
.–

Financial assets

86.1

73.1

13.0

Total
£m

Floating
rate
£m

Interest
free
£m

Fixed
rate
£m

2003
Sterling
Euro

66.5
17.8

.–
16.5

58.9
1.3

7.6
.–

Financial assets

84.3

16.5

60.2

7.6

2002
Sterling
Euro

73.1
13.0

4.2
13.0

61.3
.–

7.6
.–

Financial assets

86.1

17.2

61.3

7.6

Weighted averages re
fixed rate assets
Interest Period rate
rate
is fixed for

7.1%

7.4 years

7.1%

8.4 years
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23 Financial instruments (continued)
Analysis of currency and interest rate exposure of financial liabilities
Total
£m

Provisions
£m

Nonequity
minority
interests
£m

995.1
52.5

28.5
.–

Financial liabilities

1,047.6

2002
Sterling
Euro
Financial liabilities

#

2003
Sterling
Euro

q

Total
£m

2003
Sterling
Euro

Overdrafts†
£m

Loan
capital
£m

3.1
.–

46.1
.–

917.4
52.5

28.5

3.1

46.1

969.9

1,029.9
47.1

24.8
.–

3.1
.–

53.1
.–

948.9
47.1

1,077.0

24.8

3.1

53.1

996.0

Floating
rate §
£m

*

Interest
free
£m

Fixed rate
£m

995.1
52.5

463.3
47.9

18.0
.–

513.8
4.6

Financial liabilities

1,047.6

511.2

18.0

518.4

2002
Sterling
Euro

1,029.9
47.1

453.8
42.7

16.6
.–

559.5
4.4

Financial liabilities

1,077.0

496.5

16.6

563.9

Weighted averages re
fixed rate debt¥
Interest Period rate
rate
is fixed for

6.8% 7.9 years
8.0% 6.8 years

6.9% 8.3 years
8.0% 7.8 years

†

Interest on overdrafts is based on floating rates linked to LIBOR.
Interest rates on floating rate loans are all linked to LIBOR.
q
The analysis of fixed and floating rates takes account of interest rate swaps.
¥
The weighted averages for fixed rate debt excludes loans swapped to variable and non-equity minority interests.
* The non-equity minority interests are the preference shares issued by Whitbread Hotel Company Ltd. The rights of these
preference shares are disclosed in the accounts of Whitbread Hotel Company Ltd.
#
Provisions include onerous contracts and other provisions (note 24).
§

The group has entered into agreements which swap the fixed interest rate of £192.4m nominal value (£199.8m including
premium) of the 11.625% debenture stock for variable rates until 2011, and the fixed interest rate of the 8.125% debenture
stock for variable rates until 2021. In addition the group has entered into agreements which swap the variable rates on
£245.0m of debt (2002 – £265.0m) to fixed rates of between 5.22% and 8.15% (2002 – 5.22% and 8.15%) for periods of up
to 6 years (2002 – up to 7 years).
Fair values of financial instruments

Carrying values
2003
£m

Short term borrowings less cash and deposits
Loans to joint ventures and associates
Provisions
Non-equity minority interests
Loan capital
Derivatives relating to loan capital
Interest rate swaps

(29.3)
8.9
(28.5)
(3.1)
(969.9)
.–

2002
£m

20.0
13.0
(24.8)
(3.1)
(996.0)
.–

Fair values
2003
£m

(29.3)
8.9
(28.5)
(2.6)
(1,148.6)
110.7

2002
£m

20.0
13.0
(24.8)
(2.7)
(1,133.4)
95.3

The fair value of loan capital and derivative instruments is calculated by discounting all future cash flows by the market yield
curve at the balance sheet date.
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23 Financial instruments (continued)
Fair values of financial instruments (continued)
The fair value of non-equity minority interests is based on the market price.
Functional currencies of group operations
Other than currency funding for overseas net investments, there are no material monetary assets and liabilities which are
denominated in currencies other than the local currency of the entity owning them. Exchange gains and losses on currency
funding for overseas net investments are dealt with in the Statement of Total Recognised Gains and Losses.
Hedges
Profits and losses on financial instruments used for hedging are recognised when the exposure that is being hedged is
recognised. Unrecognised gains and losses on financial instruments used for hedging are as follows:
2002/3
£m

2001/2
£m

Unrecognised net gains on hedges at 2 March 2002
Net gains arising in previous years that were recognised in the year

95.3
(11.1)

94.6
(10.5)

Net gains arising in previous years that were not recognised in the year
Net gains arising in the year that were not recognised in the year

84.2
26.5

84.1
11.2

Unrecognised net gains on hedges at 1 March 2003

110.7

95.3

Of which, net gains expected to be recognised:
– next year
– in subsequent years

12.1
98.6

11.0
84.3

110.7

95.3

24 Provisions for liabilities and charges
Reorganisation/
restructuring
£m

Onerous
contracts
£m

Other
£m

Deferred
Tax
£m

Total
£m

139.4

170.2

Whitbread Group
2 March 2002
Created:
Deferred charge in profit and loss account
for period (note 9)
In connection with onerous lease contracts
In connection with a business disposal
Unwound discounts
Disposal of a business
Used

6.0

16.8

8.0

.–
.–
.–
.–
.–
(5.8)

.–
8.0
.–
1.6
(5.1)
(1.8)

.–
.–
1.0
.–
.–
.–

1 March 2003

0.2

19.5

9.0

149.4

178.1

.–

.–

5.0

.–

5.0

Whitbread PLC
2 March 2002 and 1 March 2003

11.0
.–
.–
.–
(1.0)
.–

11.0
8.0
1.0
1.6
(6.1)
(7.6)

With the exception of an onerous contract provision in connection with businesses acquired of £11.0m (2002 – £8.7m) provisions
have not been discounted. It is expected that the majority of the reorganisation and restructuring provisions will be used within
one year of the balance sheet date.
Other provisions relate to warranties given on the disposal of businesses. These provisions are expected to be used over
periods of up to 6 years.
Onerous contracts provisions are expected to be used over periods of up to 30 years.
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24 Provisions for liabilities and charges (continued)
The deferred tax provision in the accounts comprises:

Accelerated capital allowances
Pension prepayments

2003
£m

2002
£m

144.6
4.8

139.4
.–

149.4

139.4

No provision has been made for tax on any gains which might arise in the event of properties being sold at their revalued
amounts, as in the ordinary course of business the majority of properties would be retained indefinitely. No provision has
been made for any additional liability to UK or overseas tax on the distribution of unappropriated profits or reserves of
overseas subsidiaries, except to the extent that such distributions have been accrued as receivable.
No provision has been made for deferred tax on the sale of properties where gains have been rolled over into replacement
assets. The total amount unprovided for is estimated at £82.6m (2002 – £55.2m).
Following the enactment of legislation to exempt from tax gains on disposals of substantial shareholdings, no deferred tax
is provided in respect of any gains which might arise in the event of investments being sold at their revaluation amounts.

25 Share capital
Whitbread PLC

Authorised

Allotted, called up
and fully paid

2003
£m

2002
£m

2003
£m

2002
£m

315.0

315.0

148.0

147.7

Number of ordinary shares in issue (m)

296.0

295.4

Ordinary shares

Share
capital
£m

Share
premium
£m

2 March 2002
Issued to employees by exercise of options
Issued to trustees of Share Ownership Scheme

147.7
0.1
0.2

4.4
1.2
1.7

1 March 2003

148.0

7.3

Ordinary shares of 50 pence each

Changes in authorised, allotted and issued ordinary share capital
At 1 March 2003 there were outstanding options for employees to purchase up to 9.8m (2002 – 9.8m) ordinary shares of 50
pence each between 2003 and 2010, at prices ranging between 413.0 pence per share and 1,101.0 pence per share. During the year
to 1 March 2003 options on 0.3m (2002 – 1.2m) ordinary shares of 50 pence each, fully paid, were exercised by employees under
the terms of various share option schemes and the directors exercised their discretion under the Share Ownership Scheme to
issue 0.3m (2001/2 – nil) ordinary shares of 50 pence each, fully paid, to the trustees of the scheme.
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26 Reserves
Whitbread Group

Revaluation
reserve
£m

2 March 2002
Currency translation differences
Profit/(loss) retained
Realised revaluation gain transferred
to the profit and loss account
Goodwill on disposals (note 29)

140.4
(0.8)
.–

1 March 2003

134.5

(5.1)
.–

Joint
ventures &
associates
£m

Total
£m

3,405.0
1.0
94.0

39.5
.–
(0.3)

1,729.9
0.2
93.7

5.1
4.8

.–
.–

.–
4.8

3,509.9

39.2

1,828.6

Merger
Profit and
reserve loss account
£m
£m

(1,855.0)
.–
.–
.–
.–
(1,855.0)

Whitbread PLC
2 March 2002
Profit retained

1,449.5
140.1

1,449.5
140.1

1 March 2003

1,589.6

1,589.6

Goodwill

£m

Net amount written off against reserves to 2 March 2002
Disposal of businesses

303.0
(4.8)

Net amount written off against reserves to 1 March 2003

298.2

27 Shareholders’ funds
2003
£m

Movements in shareholders’ funds
Equity shareholders’ funds at 2 March 2002
Profit/(loss) earned for ordinary shareholders
Dividends
Other recognised gains and losses relating to the year
Goodwill on disposal
Share capital issued
Value of Pubs & Bars demerger
Gain over book value
Gross assets demerged from group
Value of debt demerged
Net assets demerged
Impairment of goodwill (see note 4)
Equity shareholders’ funds at 1 March 2003

1,882.0
152.4
(58.7)
93.7
0.2
4.8
3.2

2002
£m

.–
.–

2,487.7
(52.6)
(52.6)
(105.2)
(1.5)
.–
6.3
(1,611.6)
477.3
(1,134.3)
482.5
(651.8)
146.5

1,983.9

1,882.0
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28 Net cash inflow from operating activities
2002/3
£m

2001/2
£m

Group operating profit
Depreciation/amortisation
Impairment of leasehold properties and goodwill
Payments against provisions
Other non-cash items
(Increase)/decrease in stocks
(Increase)/decrease in debtors
Increase/(decrease) in creditors

237.1
126.0
.–
(4.9)
7.9
2.3
(24.7)
11.5

76.4
130.2
172.8
(24.6)
( 1.9)
(0.1 )
10.3
(11.0)

Cash flow from operating activities

355.2

352.1

29 Disposals
2002/3
£m

Tangible fixed assets
Net working capital, excluding cash and overdrafts
Cash and overdrafts
Provisions

34.6
(3.1)
6.7
(6.1)

Carrying value of net assets
Gross proceeds
Less costs
Net proceeds

32.1
32.8
(3.7)
29.1

Loss before goodwill written back
Goodwill written back (note 26)

(3.0)
(4.8)

Loss on disposal

(7.8)

Net sale proceeds
Cash and overdrafts sold
Accrued costs
Deferred proceeds

29.1
(6.7)
1.1
(0.4)

Cash inflow

23.1

The above relates to the disposal of The Pelican Group Ltd and BrightReasons Group Ltd on 31 May 2002 and
of Curzons Management Associates Ltd on 5 May 2002.

page 68 Whitbread PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2002/3

Notes to the accounts

30 Balance sheet movements in cash and net debt
2002
£m

2002/3
Cash at bank and in hand
Overdrafts (note 21)

Cash flow
£m

Amortisation
Foreign of premiums
exchange and discounts
£m
£m

2003
£m

Less short-term securities, bank deposits and borrowings

73.1
(53.1)
20.0
14.4

9.1
0.6

0.2
.–

.–
.–

75.4
(46.1)
29.3
15.0

Cash
Short-term securities and bank deposits
Short-term bank borrowings

34.4
9.6
(24.0)

9.7
(3.9)
3.3

0.2
.–
.–

.–
.–
.–

44.3
5.7
(20.7)

(5.6)

0.7

(90.1)
(879.8)
(969.9)

(5.4)

0.7

(940.6)

Loan capital under one year
Loan capital over one year
Total loan capital (note 22)

(17.5)
(978.5)
(996.0)

Net debt

(976.0)

2001
£m

2001/2
Cash at bank and in hand
Overdrafts (note 21)

31.0
40.1

Cash flow
£m

Amortisation
Foreign of premiums
exchange and discounts
£m
£m

2002
£m

Less short-term securities, bank deposits and borrowings

66.9
(63.3)
3.6
30.2

16.4
(15.8)

.–
.–

.–
.–

73.1
(53.1)
20.0
14.4

Cash
Short-term securities and bank deposits
Short-term bank borrowings

33.8
9.8
(40.0)

0.6
(0.2)
16.0

.–
.–
.–

.–
.–
.–

34.4
9.6
(24.0)

Loan capital under one year
Loan capital over one year
Total loan capital (note 22)

(22.3)
(1,272.6)
(1,294.9)

298.5

0.3

0.1

(17.5)
(978.5)
(996.0)

Net debt

(1,291.3)

314.9

0.3

0.1

(976.0)

31 Reconciliation of net cash flow to movement in net debt
2002/3
£m

Increase in cash in the period
Cash outflow from movement in loan capital
Cash inflow from movement in liquid resources
Cash outflow from movement in short-term borrowings

2001/2
£m

9.7
31.0
(3.9)
3.3

0.6
298.5
(0.2)
16.0

40.1
(5.4)
0.7

314.9
0.3
0.1

Movement in net debt in the period
Opening net debt

35.4
(976.0)

315.3
(1,291.3)

Closing net debt

(940.6)

(976.0)

Changes in net debt resulting from cash flows
Foreign exchange movements
Amortisation of premiums and discounts
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32 Related parties
Material transactions with related parties consisted of purchases of soft drinks from Britannia Soft Drinks Ltd amounting
to £15.7m (2001/2 – £15.4m) and sales of food and drink to Pizza Hut (UK) Ltd amounting to £80.9m (2001/2 – £72.8m). Details
of loans to joint ventures and associates are shown in notes 16 and 17. Transactions with directors can be found in the
Remuneration report on pages 32 to 40.

33 Contingent liabilities
During the year the group agreed to guarantee 50% of the borrowings of a joint venture. At 1 March 2003 borrowings under
this guarantee amounted to £4.3m. There were no other material contingent liabilities at 1 March 2003.
There were no material contingent liabilities at 2 March 2002.

34 Lease commitments
Whitbread Group
Annual payments under operating leases which expire:
Within one year
Between one and five years
After five years

Property
£m

Plant &
machinery
£m

2003
Total
£m

Property
£m

Plant &
machinery
£m

2002
Total
£m

3.2
7.3
39.3

1.0
5.6
0.3

4.2
12.9
39.6

1.6
3.9
46.7

1.0
5.4
2.5

2.6
9.3
49.2

49.8

6.9

56.7

52.2

8.9

61.1

35 Foreign exchange rates
The average euro exchange rate used during the year was 1.571 (2001/2 – 1.618) and the closing rate was 1.461 (2002 – 1.638).

36 Post balance sheet event
As discussed in note 7 the board announced in April 2003 that the company had signed an agreement with Whitbread
Pension Trustees Limited. Under that agreement, the company has undertaken to fund the pension scheme for a period
of up to 15 years.
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Profit and loss account – £m
Turnover of group and joint ventures
Group turnover
Operating profit before exceptional items
Operating profit as % of turnover of group and joint ventures
Profit before exceptional items and tax
Profit before tax
Basic earnings per share (pence)
Adjusted basic earnings per share (pence)
Ordinary dividends per share (pence)
Interest cover (times covered) #
Adjusted ordinary dividend cover (times covered)*
Average number of employees

p

1998/9

1999/2000

2000/1
restated

2001/2

2002/3

3,398.9
2,941.4
394.9
11.6%
341.7
301.1
46.09
51.37
27.78
7.4
1.9
76,100

3,738.9
2,951.4
411.5
11.0%
348.4
256.0
36.36
54.12
29.50
6.5
1.8
73,058

3,095.2
2,954.6
427.8
13.8%
334.4
291.9
37.18
47.79
31.15
4.6
1.5
79,209

2,171.6
2,014.3
280.0
12.9%
213.4
7.0
(15.91)
47.85
17.80
4.2
2.7
61,470

1,965.1
1,794.1
275.0
14.0%
214.0
202.8
51.77
52.85
19.87
4.5
2.7
55,315

NOTES:
p
Changes in accounting policies have, where material, been reflected in prior years, except FRS 19, see below.
p
2000/1 has been adjusted for the deferred tax effect resulting from the introduction of FRS 19. Prior years have
not been adjusted. A line in the table is to indicate that the earlier years are not comparable.
#
Calculated by reference to operating profit before exceptional items.
* Calculated by reference to adjusted basic earnings per share.

Balance sheet – £m

p

1999

2000

2001
restated

2002

2003

Intangible fixed assets
Tangible fixed assets
Investments

8.5
3,528.1
242.0

157.7
4,254.3
201.9

159.2
4,138.1
96.3

149.9
2,996.1
109.8

141.5
3,045.1
105.9

Total fixed assets

3,778.6

4,613.9

4,393.6

3,255.8

3,292.5

Current assets
Creditors – amounts falling due within one year

304.0
(764.5)

526.9
(1,447.1)

268.9
(689.9)

213.2
(431.8)

230.4
(474.4)

Net current liabilities

(460.5)

(920.2)

(421.0)

(218.6)

(244.0)

Total assets less current liabilities
Creditors – amounts falling due after more than one year
Provisions for liabilities and charges

3,318.1
(794.4)
(28.4)

3,693.7
(1,120.2)
(31.9)

3,972.6
(1,272.6)
(207.0)

3,037.2
(978.5)
(170.2)

3,048.5
(879.8)
(178.1)

2,495.3

2,541.6

2,493.0

1,888.5

1,990.6

Called up share capital
Share premium account
Reserves

133.4
180.8
2,179.0

2,235.0
.–
301.3

2,207.8
.–
279.9

147.7
4.4
1,729.9

148.0
7.3
1,828.6

Shareholders’ funds
Minority interests

2,493.2
2.1

2,536.3
5.3

2,487.7
5.3

1,882.0
6.5

1,983.9
6.7

2,495.3

2,541.6

2,493.0

1,888.5

1,990.6

868.3
34.8
502.4

1,721.2
67.7
511.8

1,291.3
51.8
507.1

976.0
51.7
637.1

940.6
47.3
670.3

Net debt #
Gearing (%)†
Net asset value per ordinary share (pence)

NOTES:
p
Provisions and intangible fixed assets have been adjusted for the deferred tax effect resulting from the introduction
of FRS 19. Prior years have not been adjusted. A line in the table is to indicate that the earlier years are not comparable.
#
Net debt is loan capital and bank overdrafts less cash at bank and in hand (see notes 30 and 31).
†
Gearing represents net debt expressed as a percentage of shareholders’ funds and minority interests.
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Cashflow – £m
1998/9

Cash flow from operating activities
Dividends from joint ventures and associates
Returns on investments and servicing of finance
Tax paid
Capital expenditure and financial investment §
Acquisitions and disposals q
Equity dividends paid

1999/2000

2000/1

2001/2

2002/3

519.0
2.4
(64.2)
(72.5)
(322.4)
(9.8)
(130.4)

559.0
1.7
(77.4)
(52.8)
(344.7)
(621.1)
(139.3)

492.3
3.5
(96.9)
(92.9)
(185.7)
489.3
(148.2)

352.1
2.8
(71.9)
(83.4)
(224.3)
461.6
(128.1 )

355.2
13.3
(63.4)
(49.6)
(185.7)
23.1
(53.9)

Net cash inflow/(outflow) before financing
Management of liquid resources
Financing

(77.9)
14.6
39.3

(674.6)
0.2
704.8

461.4
0.8
(449.0)

308.8
0.2
(308.4)

39.0
3.9
(33.2)

Increase/(decrease) in cash

(24.0)

30.4

13.2

(443.2)
116.6
4.2

(372.3)
16.9
10.7

(331.9)
130.8
15.4

(286.8)
64.4
(1.9)

(218.3)
29.4
3.2

(322.4)

(344.7)

(185.7)

(224.3)

(185.7)

(3.2)
(6.6)

(632.4)
11.3

(11.0)
500.3

.–
461.6

.–
23.1

(9.8)

(621. 1)

489.3

461.6

23.1

0.6

9.7

§

Capital expenditure and financial investment
Property and plant purchased
Property and plant sold
Net investment and loan decrease

q
Acquisitions and disposals
New businesses acquired
Businesses sold
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business and financial highlights!Whitbread

For further information about the company and its
businesses please visit the Whitbread website at
www.whitbread.co.uk

Registrar

“This is the fourth period in
succession in which Whitbread’s
continuing businesses have reported
double-digit earnings growth”
Whitbread (continuing businesses)*

2002/3

% change

Divisional sales (£m)

1,780

+3.5

Operating profit† (£m)

275

+10

Profit before tax (£m)

214

+14

Profit after tax† (£m)

148

+12

Return on capital (%)

9.4

+0.7 points

ø

†

*ø continuing businesses – those owned by the group at 3 March 2002
excluding businesses sold

† profits before exceptional items

The company’s registrar is Computershare Investor
Services PLC,PO Box 82,The Pavilions,Bridgwater Road,
Bristol BS99 7NH.Their website address is
www.computershare.com.For enquiries regarding your
shareholding please telephone 0870 703 0103,or e-mail
web.queries@computershare.co.uk.You can also view upto-date information about your holdings by visiting
www.whitbread.co.uk/register.Please ensure that you
advise Computershare promptly of any change of address.

Shareholder benefits
Details of special discounts and offers by Whitbread
businesses have been mailed with this report. Any future
offers will be subject to review by the board.

Sharegift
If you have a small number of Whitbread PLC shares,with
a value that makes it uneconomic to sell them,you may
donate the shares to charity through the Sharegift scheme
operated by the Orr Mackintosh Foundation.Further
information on Sharegift can be obtained from their
website (www.sharegift.org) or by calling 020 7337 0501.

Dividend Reinvestment Plan
Full details of the plan,which offers you the chance to
reinvest your cash dividend in the purchase of additional
company shares,are available from the registrars at the
address given above.

Dividend payment by BACS
We can pay your dividends direct to your bank or building
society account using the Bankers’Automated Clearing
Service (BACS).This means that your dividend will be in
your account on the same day we make the payment.
Your tax voucher will be posted to your home address.
If you would like to use this method of payment please
ring the registrars on 0870 703 0103.

Individual Savings Account (ISA)
NatWest provide a Company sponsored ISA. For
further information or to receive a copy of the ISA
brochure please ring 020 7895 5600. Calls are charged
at national rates.

Financial diary – 2003/4*
30 April

Results announcement

7 May

Ex dividend date for final dividend

9 May

Record date for final dividend

17 June

AGM at Queen Elizabeth II
Conference Centre

11 July

Payment of final dividend

30 August

Half year end

28 October

Announcement of half year results
(date under review)

5 November

Ex dividend date for interim dividend

7 November

Record date

Share dealing service

6 January 2004 Payment of interim dividend

Share dealing by post

4 March 2004

Computershare 0870 703 0103
Barclays Stockbrokers 0845 702 3021
NatWest Stockbrokers 0870 600 2050

*Dates subject to confirmation

End of financial year

Share dealing by telephone
Stocktrade 0845 840 1533
Barclays Stockbrokers 0845 702 3021
The availability of these services should not be taken
as a recommendation to deal.
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Market values of shares in the company as at 31 March
1982 were as follows:
‘A’limited voting shares of 25p each 103.75p
‘B’limited shares of 25p each 103.75p
Whitbread has had discussions with the Inland Revenue
concerning the capital gains tax cost of Whitbread
shares following the reduction of capital on 10 May 2001.
It is confirmed that the market value of each Whitbread
share on 10 May 2001 for these purposes was 606.5p and
the market value of each Fairbar share was 230p.
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